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Whitbread Group PLC

Strategic report

Introduction

These consolidated financial statements represent Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries ("Group™). Whitbread is the owner of Premier
Inn, the UK s biggest hotel brand. with over 83,500 rooms in over 840 hotels and a growing presence in Germany with 9.000 rooms in

51 hotels. offering guality accommodation at affordable prices in great locations. People are at the heart of our business. We employ over 40,000
team members in over 1,600 Premier Inn hotels and restaurants across the UK and Germany and serve over five milfion customers cvery month.

Our strategy of investing through periods of uncertainty has underpinned our strong performance in the UK and provided real momentum as we
continue to expand in Germany. We have a long track record of generating attractive and consistent rates of return for our shareholders whilst
also ensuring we remain a Force for Good. We have emerged from the pandemic with a strong balance shect and significant opportunities for
growth. and remain confident in delivering attractive long-term returns for shareholders.

We own. operate and manage a large network of hotels and restaurants. With significant asset-backing. our vertically integrated model ensures
the consisterit delivery of a high~quality product for our guests, atteactive and sustainable rates of return for our shareholders whilst having a
positive impact on our other key stakeholders.

Premier Inn currently operates 800+ hotels in the UK {83,500 rooms) and is locking to continue its expansion into Germany through
a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. Germany has 51 operational hotels as at 2 March 2023 and a committed
pipeline of 37 further hotels that are planned to open over the next few years. Further details can be found in the Strategic Report
of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023. The financial year represents the 32
weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior financial vear: 53 weeks to 3 March 2022).

Business Review
Group adjusted” profit before tax was £376.8m (2021/22: loss of £55.7m). Group statutory profit for the year was £249.1m
(2021/22: £11.6m). Group revenue for the vear was £2.625.2m (2021/22: £1,703.4m). '

At2 March 2023, net debt* was £171.4m (2021/22: net debt of £140.5m}.

Liquidity and debt funding facilities

Whitbread PLC received confirmation of its invesiment grade status on 20 February 2023 and aims to manage 1o investment grade
metrics of lease adjusted net debt* of less than 3.7x' funds from operations* over the medium term. During the first half, the Group
returned to below this Ievel and as at the end of 2022/23 the ratio was 2.7x,

During the first half of 2022/23. the Group cntered into a new £775 million revolving credit tacility (*RCF}, replacing the previous
£850 million facility that was due to expire in September 2023. The new five-year facility, with two one-year extension options, is a
multi-currency revolving credit facility and is provided by a syndicate of seven banks led by Banco Santander, Barclays. NatWest
and Bank of China. The RCF has variable interest raies with GBP linked to SONIA and EUR being linked to EURIBOR.

The maturity of the Group’s facilitics is set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,

« Alternative performance measure — see page 12 for further detail

' The covenant measures are calculated pre-IFRS 16
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Strategic report (continued)

Prewier Tun UK

Premier Inn UK statutory revenue was 50% ahead of FY22 and 22% up compared to FY20. Comparisons are made to FY22
that was partially impacted by the pandemic and 2019/20. with 2019/20 being the last financial period before the onset of the
pandemic.

The impact of the pandemic on the 2021/22 results meant that the 2022/23 comparative performance was stronger than versus
2019/20. Total statutory revenue was 22% ahead of 2019/20 driven by the strength of our UK hotel performance. UK
accommodation sales were 37% ahead of 2016/20. driven by a 640bps increase in occupancy and 17% increase in average room
rates as well as the addition of over 6.000 rooms to our estate. Factors behind our strong performance included external drivers
such as strong consumer demand. a reduced level of supply and a robust pricing environment.

While these factors benefited the M&E (Midscale & Economy) sector as a whole. Premier 1un remained well-ahead of the M&E
market throughout the period thanks to the inherent sirengths of our vertically integrated operating model. direct distribution,
market-leading position and the execution of several commercial initiatives.

Food and Beverage (F&B) sales were well-ahead of 2021/22. driven by the commercial initiatives we implemented during the
year and the market recovery following the pandemic. Despite this recovery and the benefits of high hotel occupancy and a
number of commercial initiatives helping to drive F&B sales, the value pub restaurant sector remains challenging with the result
that overall F&B sales were 4% behind pre-pandemic levels.

Adjusted other income (excluding rental income) of £5 million related to a provision release following the complction of an
HMRC review of the Group’s COVIiD-related support claims. for further information see page 49. Whilst in 2021/22, adjusted
other income (excluding rental income) of £70 million included £62 million benefit from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
and £8 million benefit from other COVID-related grants, no claims for COVID-related Government support were made in
2022/23.

Adjusted operating costs of £1.595 million were 28% higher than 2021/22 driven by increased occupancy across a higher
number of rooms, higher inflation. the absence of any bencfit received in relation to the Government’s business rates holiday
(2021/22: £56 million) and after the benefit of our ongoing cost efficiency programme. Adjusted EBITDAR* margins recovered
strongly to 37% (2021/22: 29%) and total adjusted EBITDAR?* increased to £918 million which was 16% above pre-pandemic
levels. Right-of-use asset depreciation was £134 million and leasc liability interest was £125 million reflecting the addition of
net 1,495 more leasehold rooms during the year. A total of ten new hotels and an extension added 1,722 new rooms whilc four
hotels totalling 432 rooms were closed as the Group continues to optimise its estate when suitable opportunities arise. At the end
of the year, the UK and Ireland estate stood at 847 hotels with a total ot 83,576 rooms and a committed pipeline of 7,425 rooms.

The increase in adjusted EBITDAR* meant that adjusted profit before tax* increased to £492 million, significantly ahead of
2021/22 and 19% ahead of 2019/20. Despite the challenge of sector-wide inflationary pressures, pre-tax profit margins reached
19.6% which was a marked increase from 2021/22 and almost back to the 20.2% achieved in 2019/20.

The strong profit performance coupled with our disciplined approach to capital allocation fed through into a marked recovery in
ROCE* that was 12.9% for the year, up from 2.3% in 2021/22 and 11.2% in 2019/20.
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Strategic report (continued)

Premier Inn Germany

With over 9.000 rooms open in 51 hotels. we have established a broad national network. We will continue to pursue an ambitious
growth strategy in Germany, both organically and through bolt-on acquisitions. Qur total open and committed pipeline stands at
16,000 rooms and we believe there is ample opportunity to grow further.

Pandemic-related restrictions were finally lifted during the first quarter which prompted an uplift in leisure demand throughout the
summer months. This continued into the third quarter with leisure demand remaining buoyant, supported by a high number of
leisure cvents, as well as a rebound in business travel including the return of a number of large international trade fairs. Despite the
popularity of Christmas markets in a number of German cities, markel demand in the seasenally quist fourth quarter was softer
than expected. The net result was that total statutory revenue increased by 234% versus 2021/22, up to £1 18 million and was
significantly ahcad of 2019/20 revenue of £12 million, this increase driven by the increase in the size of our estate since 2019/20.

Adjusted other income (excluding rental income) was significantly less than last year, with no claims being made for COVID-
related Government support in 2022/23 (2021/22: £44 million).

Adjusted operating costs increased by £44 million versus 2021722 (2021/22: £42 million increase) reflecting the continued growth
in our estate and inflationary pressures. We made good progress on continuing to refine our operating model and tailor our
customer proposition. We also continued to drive cost efficiencies without compromising our ability to drive revenue growth. The
addition of 2.706 new leaschold reams to the estate meant that right-of-use-asset depreciation increased by 41% to £32 million and
lease liability interest increased by 63% to £14 million. During the year we opened ten hotels and acquired six hotels including a
frechold hotel in Austria, ending the period with 51 hotels and 9,042 rooms open.

Cash generation

Adjusted EBITDAR increased by 88% to £888 million (2021/22: £473 million), driven by the strength of the trading performance
of Premicr Inn UK, resulting in an adjusted operating cashflow of £719 million (2021/22: £404 million). Expansionary and
maintenance capital expenditure increased to £546 million in 2022/23 (2021/22: £261 million) resulting in total cashflow before
shareholder returns and debt repayments of £182 million broadiy in line with last year (2021/22: £187 miilion).

Future likely developments
For details of these please refer to the future likely developments section of the Directors’ report.

Risks and uncertainties

The Whithread PLC Board has ultimate responsibility for risk management throughout the Group and determines the nature and
extent of the risks Whitbread is willing to take to achieve its objectives. Risk is managed proactively by the Executive Committes
of Whitbread PLC. Certain responsibilities. such as overseeing the systems of risk management and internal control, have been
delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee of Whithread PLC. which completes an annual review of the effectiveness of
these processes. The business units complete an annual review of the risks to the achievement of their strategic poals. whilst also
taking into account the key operational risks, which are updated regularly. A robust top-down risk assessment is also completed
to capture the Board's views on the principal risks facing Whitbread and its risk appetite for sach. Actions required to manage
these risks are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. Emerging risk themes and trends from industry and professional
bodies, and peer networks, are collated and reviewed biannually by the Executive Committee of Whitbread PL.C and managed
through the risk management framework as appropriate. The principal risks identified, together with a summary of key
mitigations are summarised below,

Risk appetite is defined as the level of risk we are willing to accept in pursuit of our strategic priorities. The level of risk
acceptable for principal and emerging risks is assessed on an annual basis by the Executive Committee of Whitbread PL.C and
Whitbread PLC Board members. who define their risk appetite against key indicators including potential impact of risk,
likelihood of risk. and ability to reduce risk through mitigation. This ensures alignment between our view of acceptable risk
exposure and the strategic priorities of the Group.

Strategic priorities” key:
» 1 —innovate and grow in our core UK business
« 2~ focus on our strengths to grow internationally
e 3 —enhance our capability to support long term growth
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities” appetite year
Uncertain economic outlook
Uncertain UK and Germany economic | - We currently have a strong balance sheet with substantial| 1,23 N/A No change
outlook with the threat of a recession liquidity and a large frechold property base, giving us the
which is deep and prolonged, option to enter into sale and leaseback agreements if
exacerbated by the impact from wider required.
g:ﬁ:gﬁfgﬁgﬁ Ez&dsﬁﬂg :;u g::ltting - We continue to make good progress with our efficiency
i1 chaneeable dcman;:!‘ wé ak public and programme and rolling thlll[lEES ht;dggng, to oﬁset )
consmn% r confidence: reduced inflationary pressures and maintain rigorous discipline
international travel; structurat and over our capital and cost spend.
significant inflation widely impacting - We have updated our supplier base to include more local
our ¢ost base across the business: and suppliers and opened new warchousing in Germany to
the potential inability to meet customer minimise supply chain disruption.
demand. Overall, causing declining cash here is a fi busi . in ol
flows, signiticant supply chain - There is a rigorous business planning process in place
disrul:,nion impact on property which considers many scenarios with appropriate
valuations, increasing quanlu;n and cost 1esponses.
of borrowing and a strain on balance
sheet strength.
Cyber and data security o .
Businesses continue to be subject 1o - We have a specialist team and robust Information 3 Low Increased due to
continuously evolving methods of cyber- | Security Management in place with a wide range of continuously
atlack. Data breaches or operational proactive and reactive security controls including up-to- evolving
disruption caused by malware such as date antivirus software across the estaie, network/ system methods of attack
ransomware. can result in a loss of brand | Monitoring and regular penetration testing to identify as well as the
trust. regulatory fines and an adverse vulnerabilities. :gtlll‘l{ml; of
impact on the value of the business. - A continuous security improvement programme is in
place with regular intenal and independent external
review of controt effectiveness and Information Secunty
maturity.
- Our mature risk process and proactive threat modelling
and monitoring allow us to identify and address threats at
the earliest opportunity
- We have solid compliance foundations across all
countries for data protection and effective collaboration
between Information Security and Data Protection teams
to minimise data risks and ensure compliance with
GDPR.
- All IT change and engineering has Information Security
built in by design.
Technology-led business change . )
- To help ensure the successtul delivery of change projects, 123 High Increased due to

and interdependencies

The risk that we are unable to successfully
deliver major transformational
programmes particularly under time
bound pressures and realise benefits due
1o high volume of change. This
particularly refers to the replacement of
the legacy reservation sysiem in yearat a
significant pace, our systems networks
across the estate, other commercial and
people technology driven transformation
programmes, and Germany expansion
whilst embedding new teams and ways of
working.

we have enhanced internal project delivery expertise and
capability and a robust assurance management
framework. This is coupled with regular reporting and
discussion at the Risk Working Group, Executive
Committee and Board.

- Utilisation of specialist technology third parties and
subject matter experts to provide further independent
assurance.

criticality of the
speed of change
and operational
impact, as well as
recognising the
significant
investment in
technology over
the next five
years
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities' appetite year
Germany profitable growth . L
The risk that international expansion in - We are able to use the deep level of skills and 2 High Increased in line
Germany is impacted by a prolonged expetience used to build the UK business, coupled with with the increase
downturn in the German economic our strong development team in country which is able to in investment
climate. or a failure to achieve our perform detailed and ongoing assessments of the
market revenue growth or cost German market and economic fundamentals at both a
assumptions making it harder to achieve micro and a macro level.
alevel of return in a timeframe that - Focus is on developing our strong organic and M&A
satisfies stakeholder expectations. There pipelines and reducing capital costs through better
is some counterbalance identified within buying power and hamessing efficiencies and synergies
the risk created by increased opportunity with the UK business.
to acquire sites due to competitor - A monthly executive meeting reviews the German
weakness. business in detail, including financial performance,
customer feedback, marketing and operations and
people, capital and property plans.
Increased and extended focus N J itions includi | New in year
- New menus and propositions including revenue -
on fOOd_ a?nd _beverage opportunities from focus on daypart trading and
proposition in Restaurants premiumisation, and improvement of guest experience
}here is arisk t.hz;g the currcnft by integrating ground floor spaces.
ivergence in performance o _ . : ; t
accormmodation and food and beverage zrengsbuymg with supply chain and procuremen
drives a disproportional focus in gets: P ke s
restaurants by the business. The pub - Brand—}ed initiatives and focus on key events.
restaurant market continues to be - Extensive market research and customer feedback.
highly competitive, with headwinds - Rejuvenation of brands and associated marketing to
from inflation and the cost-ot-living optimise spend.
impact on demand yet to be fully
understood. This aiso highlights an
opportunity to focus on the value-led
consurner and to continue to benefit
from the Premier Inn customer to drive
incremental RevPAR.
Talent, attraction, and .
- 3 Medwm No change

retention

The risk of structural changes to the
macro labour market where the
hospitality sector is considered a fess
attractive employer, compounded by
immigration regulations for specitic
roles such as chefs and housekeeping
and real cost-of-living pressures, along
with the transferability of functional
expertise especially in the Technology
and Digital areas, which could lead to a
smaller talent pool and low levels of
diversity in the senior leadership team
resulting in significant cost inflation
and potential disruption.

The success of our businesses would not be possibie
without the passion and commitment of our teams.
Therefore, team cngagement is fundamental. We
monitor this closely through our annual engagement
survey and invest in ongoing development, wellbeing
and engagement, along with driving our diversity and
inclusion strategy.

Team retention is a key component of our WINcard and
Annual Incentive Scheme, with long-term incentive
schemes in place for senior team members and an
ongoing review of high-risk areas such as I'T and Digital
remuneration. We regularly benchmark our reward
packages against the market and have targeted pay
interventions around skills hotspots.

- We have invested significantly in our Direct Hire
Resourcing tearn, optimised the model and continuing to
drive employer presence with a specific focus on youth.
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk v§ prier
Risk Key mitigations priorities’ appetite year
Third-party arrangements . i
Whilbread has several key supplier - We continually review our suppliers and business 23 Medium No change
a‘ziﬁmnsmfl’s that hﬁ!p ?tgsurg tS e eiﬁr:'nent continuity arrangements, with demand planning and
ivery of our multi-site an : oF .
(~mwr¥mcmﬂmgl incliding [Turfjgc?d and entanced suppller perfonngnce monitoring allowing
beverage, distribution and laundry proactive action when required.
services. Withdrawal of services for one | - We expect our suppliers’ practices to be in line with our
?ér’mg. ﬁgﬁygg&gﬁ{g g{mpg“jss'ogr"f values and standards. Supplicrs are thoroughly vetted
reputational damage as a result of before we enter into any arrangements to ensure they are
unethical supplier practices could cause reputable and then monitored through our supplier
significant business interruption. management arrangements.
- We have business continuity plans in place for all critical
suppliers.
Structural shifts and threat
fram disruptors - We perform extensive scenario modelling, fed by regular | 1-2.3 N/A No change
AL B O, | compettorand markt sl dllowing s 0 s e
- ; impact of various structural shifts on the business an
2{;‘;‘&,?5@’}?&;@%‘&%{?%&;{5“r enabling us to make informed decisions going forward.
price sensrtivity due to the cost-of-living |- We have Customer and Trading Committces which track
crisis along with the pennf_lknﬁht ot long- Brand Index, NPS, customer satisfaction and feedback,
Lﬁm;g}ggg;mi ST}flllefétllrrl];t% cﬁﬁ'§1§§§°§§§5‘ and we are continually improving our digital marketing
the reduction in intemational travel to both leisure and business to business custorners.
resutting in a loss of market share. The - We are continually optimising the customer proposition
20{212]?5961%?%‘1&%&%;?5 Presn&_:}nts around our estate, upgrading rooms and churning
risk te . 1O ; - .
asset valuations, particularly o Sitc‘f suboptimal Sltes.' .
located in metropolitan areas. - We are also taking a cautious approach to further
expansion, beyond our existing pipeline, slowing signing
of new sites in the UK until the environment is more
certain, with our focus shifting to lower risk market
share trading initiatives.
Extended stagnation of the UK )
- Strong financial covenants make us more attractive o L N/A New in year

property market slows UK

growth

The stagnation in the UK property market
continues for longer than expected and
impacts our ability to maintain the UK
pipeline, putting pressure on our returns
and UK growth in subsequent years.

This is driven by the slowdovwn in
developer-led opportunities, due to weak
sentiment and possible fall in value of
land, construction inflation: increased
cost of debt; and investrnent vields.

Whitbread could potentially take on a risk
remium to acquire sites by assyming a
ture value from sale and leaseback
arrangements.

Opportunities may become available due
to less competition to buy land and to
build out, or developers may look to
release properties in the short term.

investment funds as a preferred hotel tenant.

- Experienced and well-networked Property team.

- Robust capital investment framework with updated
analysis, including yield ranges (+/-50bps) to support
decisions.

- Sale and leaseback yields tested with continual
monitoring of the market.

- Solid committed pipeline of 7,425 rooms across 40
hotels.
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities! appetite year
Health and safety . 123 L No chane
Adverse publicity and brand damage due | - The safety of our guests and employees is of paramount | 1. ow © change
to death or serious injury as a result of importance. NSF, an independent specialist, undertakes
Company negligence or a significant unannounced heaith and safety audits on sites, covering
incident resulting from food, in particular | food, fire, and general health and safety requirements.
the risk from allergens, fire, terrorismor | - We have robust fire safety policies, procedures and
another safety failure. This could be due to|  training for our team members. We work closely with
a failure in safety standards, building independent fire safety consuliants, regarding fire safety
standards, supply chain provenance, in our hotels.
responsible sourcing, poor hygiene - We have stringent food safety and sourcing policies with
standards or a direct targeted terrorism robust traceability and testing requirements in place in
attack, all of which could lead to adverse | ragpect of meat and other products. We invest
publicity, brand damage and sudden or considerable resources in employee training along with
prolonged downturn in demand in key allergen information which is also made casily
markets and locations. accessible both online and at sites.
- Health and safety is a measure on the WINcard and acts

as a hurdle for incentive payments. Regular health and

safety updates are provided to the Risk Working Group,

the Executive Committee and the Board.

- We invest in ongoing site level training to help identify

hostile reconnaissance activities or potential terrorism,

and to ensure we have an appropriate response should

such events take place. The executive tearn also holds

Crisis management exercises to ensure we are prepared

for such events.
Environmental, Social and 1.2.3 N/A Increased in

Governance

As a business, we have an impact on and
are impacted by a wide range of
environmental issues, such as an
inability to meet carbon targets, natural
resource scarcity, and social trends such
as veganism. There is uncertainty as to
how these collective risks will evolve
and the expectations of our wide
stakeholder group to deliver on our
commitments and embed them within
the business modet wholly could impact
our reputation and performance.

There is also the risk of an issue within
the supply chain materialising which is
unethical or lacks traceability, which
would impact our sustainability
credentials.

- Qur TCFD response helps us to identify and assess key
risks, opportunities and impacts of climate change to the
business.
Our Force for Good programme covers large aspects of
our ESG agenda, with targets around emissions, food
waste, and single-use plastics, ensuring our
accountability for positive change.
We continue to manage and monitor the use of proceeds
against the projects outlined in our Green Bond
Framework. The proceeds have been allocated against
our green energy, sustainable procurement, and green
building projects.
We champion inclusivity and improving diversity across
the organisation and have set eight diversity and
inclusion targets to ensure our teamns feel supperted and
engaged as part of this process.
- Regular ethical supplier audits combined with our
responsible sourcing policies and initiatives ensure
cthical end to end buying.

recognition of
potential time
bound pressures
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Strategic report (continued)
Section 172 statement

In accordance with section 172 of the UK Companics Act 2006. in its decision making the Board of Whitbread Group PLC considers
the interests of the Group’s employees and other stakeholders.

Maintaining and developing positive relations with all the stakeholders who may be impacted by the decisions we make is a critical
factor in ensuring long-term sustainable success for our business. Stakeholder engagement is central to the formulation and delivery
of our strategy. As the strategy for the Group is developed, the views and interests of various stakeholders are factored in to the
strategic options, including the views of customers. employees, shareholders and supplicrs. Equally, the impact of Group strategy on
the communities in which we operate. and on the environment. is considered. That way. the strategy of the Group is developed
directly with those intcrests in mind.

Equally, the interests of all relevant stakeholders are caretully considered by the Board and the Executive Commitiee as and when

specific decisions are made throughout the year. In its decision making, the Board considers what is most likely te promote the
success of the Company for its stakeholders in the long-term.

Our directors understand the importance of their section 172 duty o act in good faith to promote the success of the Company. Some
examples of how the Board considers these groups during Board meetings and discussions include the following:

e As part of the monthly Key Performance Indicators (KPI} pack. the Board considers data relating to customer feedbackand
team retention, as well as data on sharcholders and themes from investor relations meetings.

¢ The Chief Financial Officer’s Board reports give details on recent engagement with shareholders and Pension Trustees
discussions, and qualitative feedback on specific concerns.

e  The Chief Peopte Officer’'s Board reports provides details of all relevant employee-related matters, including recruitment,
retention, diversity and inclusion, listening. wellbeing, training and reward.

¢  The General Counsel’s report contains an update of key developments on the Force for Good agenda. including work in the
community, charitable fundraising, the environment, plastics and food waste. It also includes best practice guidance on section
172 compliance.

¢ The Chief Executive's report gives details of any relevant interaction with Government or regulators, and key issues with
suppliers and landlords.

e The Board debate on possible mergers and acquisitions include wider impact assessments. considering issues such as
integration with the current business, management capabilities. the impact on team members, and the ability of our supply
chain to react with the plan.

The Board also takes into consideration the long-term consequences for the whole Group when making these decisions. making sure
the Company conducts its business in a fair way, protecting its reputation and external relationships.

Further information and examples of how Whitbread's Board engages with. and considers interactions with key stakeholders can be
found below.

Employees

e Qverthe year, the Whitbread PL.C Board has focused discussions on team member pay. Taking into consideration the curreat cost of living
and the impact on our entry {evel workers in particular

»  The Whitbread PLC Board receives monthly data in the monthty KPI pack regarding team retention, and the monthly data is considered
carefully

e The Whithread PLC Chief Executive in his report specifically mentions team retention and reward strategies, and makes proposals for
approval

*  ‘Our Voice', a body made up of elected representatives across the business, represent the views of employee constituencies to senior
management. The Board receives reports of these meetings

»  Review of the Speaking Out process, as requested by the audit committee of Whitbread PLC to ensure a better platform for employees to
raise concerns

¢ The Board has set cight specific Diversity and Inclusion targets to ensure that the business is properly representative of the communities in
which we operate. Good progress has been made in relation (o these targets

s In the monthly CPO report, the Whitbread PLC Board reccives detail around all areas of the People strategy

»  Diversity and inclusion is considered as part of all Whitbread PLC Board appointments. This is guided by the Whitbread PLC Board
Diversity Policy, which was introduced in 2021 and the Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap Report 2022. More detail on this can be found on
the Whitbread website

e The Whitbread PLC Board reviewed diversity and inclusion as part of the succession planning and People strategy. This also included focus
around creating a diverse pipeline at the senior management level. The Whitbread PLC Board discussed the various diversity inclusion
networks, Glow, RRCH. eNable and Gender Equality

e  The Board receives reports on health and safety management bi-annually. statistics are included in the KPI pack, and any incidents arc
reported straight away to the Board.

10
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Section 172 statement (continued)

Customers

*

The Whitbread PLC Board receives data on customner satisfaction scores each month
The Whitbread P1.C Board receives a monthly report on commercial. pricing and operational performance each month
Quarterly deep dives are provided into pricing and commercial strategies in the UK and Germany as part of the strategy day presentations

The Whitbread PLC Board approves the refurbishment schedule and repairs and maintenance programmes, The Whitbread PLC Board also
continued with a programme of investment through the cycle. to ensure the portfolio retains the high quality our guests expect

The Whitbread PLC Board considers room innevations periodically, e.g. Premier Plus rooms, twin rooms
The Whitbread PLC Board considers marketing campaigns and digital strategies

The Remuneration Committee of Whithread PLC includes customer measures in the remuneration structures for key team members

Suppliers

Given the supply chain issues and increased costs as we have emerged trom COVID-19, the Whitbread PLC Board has received regular
updates on issues such as shortages, security of supply, the impact on the business and on other stakeholders. cost inflation and strategies
to tackle each

The Whitbread PLC Board has discussed inflation along the supply chain as part of the CI'Os report.
The Whitbread PL.C Board approves a Modern Slavery Act Statement cach year

The Whitbread PLC Board approves material contracts with suppliers each year if they are of significant sizc and importance. This year,
the Board has reviewed and approved contracts with Oracle, Fujitsu. laundry providers and energy suppliers

The Whitbread PLC Board has received presentations on sustainability, which includes the responsible sourcing of critical commodities,
Scope 3 carbon emissions, the reduction of single-use plastics. and the reduction of food waste

This year, the Whitbread PLC Board has approved the delivery of over 42,000 meals to FareShare, a charity which delivers food which
would otherwise be wasted, to foodbanks

Communities and the environment

The Whitbread PLC Board has reccived presemtations regarding our sustainability programme, Force for Goed, and has challenged the
targets which were proposed

The Whitbread PLC Board receives regular updates on key developments in the Force for Good programme and provides comment and
view on material issues

The Whitbread PLC Board reviewed the Company’s Charity partnership and has received information on the amount of fundraising, with
our chosen charity partner, Great Ormond Street Hospital Children’s Charity

Lenders

Once a year the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC meet the key lenders within the revolving credit facility to
discuss the annual results and business performance

The Group holds a fixed income call with our bondholders afier the annual results presentation
The Whitbread PL.C Group Financial Controller is in regular contact with our banks” relationship teams. discussing operational and strategic
financing requirements. and our Treasury team engages to manage the Group’s operational requirements

We continue to menitor and discuss with the banks their strategy and ability to lend to the Group in the future and any changes that may
impact this

Pensions Trustees

The Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC attends a Trustee meeting annually to present. and answer questions on, the Company’s
annual results and its ability to meet its obligations o the pension scheme

The Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC regularly interacts with the Chair of the Trustee

A Company representative attends the Trustee’s Benefit Sub-Committee and the Funding & Investment Sub-Committee meetings.
Attendance at the latter enables an understanding of any investment changes that are planned and can provide a Company view where
appropriate

Each quarter, the UK Finance Director of Whitbread PLC meets with the Funding & Investment Sub-Committee to give an updatc on
{Company performance and answer any questions

The Whitbread PLC Board receives presentations in relation to pension issues, including regarding the funding position, triennial valuation
and investment performance

During the year. the Whitbread PLC Board received updates on the pensioner buy-in transaction, having previously confirmed it was
suppertive of the Trustee entering into a buy-out policy to further derisk the pension scheme. The UK Finance Director of Whitbread PLC
was part of the Joint Working Group established to progress the transaction
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Strategic report (continued)

Financial and non-financial key performance indicators

This Group is exempt from the requirements of section 464(ch) of the Companies Act 2006 to report a non-financial information
statement. This information is presented on page 59 of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and

ultimate parent company) for the year ended 2 March 2023. The table below shows the consolidated financial key performance

indicators of Whitbread Group PLC,

2022/23 2021722

Revenue growth % 54.1% 189.0%
Revenue £m 2,625.2 1.703.4
Profit before tax £m 338.3 18.3
Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax* £m 376.8 (55.7)
Total rooms - UK and Ireland No. 83,500 82,200
Premier Inn UK occupancy %o 83% 68%

Occupancy represents the number of hotel bedrooms occupied by guests expressed as a percentage of the number of bedrooms
available in the period.

Adjusted profit before tax* represents profit before tax before adjusting items. The closest IFRS measure is profit before tax. See the
consolidated income statement for a reconciliation.

Alternative performance measures*

We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both statutory measures in
accordance with IFRS and alternative performance measures {APMs) which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we believe they provide both management and investors
with usefu| additional information about the financial performance of the Group’s businesses.

Adjusted measures of profitability represent the equivalent [FRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider relevant for
comparison of the financial performance of the Group’s businesses either from one period to another or with other similar

businesses.

APMs are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with similarly titled mcasures reported by other
companies. APMs should be considered in addition to, and are not intended to be a substitute for. or superior to, IFRS measures.

For further information relevant to the use of APMs by the Group refer to the Adjusting items and use of alternative performance
measures Accounting Policy in these financial statements.

The strategic report was approved by the directors on 25 July 2023 and signed on its behalf.

Ntz

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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Direclors’ report
The directors present their Annual Report and audited financial statements for the year ended 2 March 2023,

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group is the operation of hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and internationally.

Dividends
The directors did not declare or pay a dividend in the year (2021/22: £nil). No further dividends were proposcd (2021/22: £ail).

Directors

The directors who served during the year were:
- M Anderson
- A J Brittain {resigned 7 January 2023)
- N T Cadbury (resigned 22 March 2022)
- R M Howarth
- H K Patel (appointed 22 March 2022)
- D J Paul (appointed 17 January 2023)
- C A Thomas (appointed 22 June 2023)

Employee involvement
All employee services are provided to the Company by Whitbread Group PLC. For further information on employee involvement
please refer to the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023.

Political donations
Neo political donations were made during the year (2021/22: £nil).

Future likely developments

The Group remains committed to pursuing its ambitious growth milestones. The plan is to grow Premier [nn UK rooms from
83,500 at the year-end with around 7,500 reoms in a commitied UK pipeline. The Group's ambition is to reach 125.000 rooms in
the UK. We plan to open rooms in locations where we currently have no hotels and also in high demand locations where we
already have a presence.

In Germany. Premier Inn has an estate of 9,000 rooms, with a committed pipeline of 7,000 rooms. We believe the opportunity

to create substantial value in Germany is significant. The German hotel market today is very similar to where the UK was 15-20
years ago: it is highly fragmented. with a large independent hotel sector and a relatively small branded budget hotel segment, but
with a large, prosperous economy and significant volumes of business and leisure travei.

For further information on future likely developments please see the business review included in the Annual Report and Accounis
of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and ultimate parent company) for the vear ended 2 March 2023.

Employment policies
Whitbread has a range of employment policies covering such issues as diversity, employee well-being, engagement, participation
and equal opportunities.

The Company takes its responsibilities to disabled persons seriously and seeks not to discriminate under any circumstances
(including in relation to training, career development and promotion) against current or praspective emiployees because of any
disability, Fuil and fair consideration is given to applications for employment made by disabled persons. having regard 1o their
aptitudes and abilities. Employees who become disabled during their career at Whitbread will be retained in employment
wherever possible and given support with rehabilitation and training.

Financial risk management
Information on the Company s use of financial instruments. financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure is
given in Note 23 and Note 24.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Going concern

The Group's and Company s business activities. financial position, borrowing facitities and performance for the year are set out
in the strategic report on pages 3 to 12. The net debt. borrowing facilities and the maturity of those facilities are set out in Note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The directors have outlined the assessment approach for going concern in the accounting policy disclosure in Note 2 of the
consolidaed Mrancial statements. Following that review the directors have concluded that the going concern basis remains

appropriate.

Directors’ indemnity
A qualifying third-party indemnity provision (as defined in Section 236 (1} of the Companies Act 2006) is in force for the benefit
of the directors.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that.:

 so far as the director is aware. there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and
« the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himse/herself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given. and should be interpreted. in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

Events after the balance sheet date
[nformation on events after the balance sheet date is provided in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

This Group is exempt from the rcquircments of Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) Statutory Instrument:
2018/1155 through virtue of it being a subsidiary consolidated into Whitbread PLC (immediate parent entity) which discloses
the information required by SECR.

Reappointment of auditors
The auditor Deloitte LLP are deemed reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated fipancial statements of Whitbread Group PL.C for the year ended 2 March 2023 were approved and
authorised by the Board of directors on 25 July 2023.

On behalf of the board

Ntz

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to
prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (adopted international
accounting standards).

The directors have chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
+ sclect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
= make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
+ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed. subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements: and
+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company
will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, [nternational Accounting Standard | requires that directors:

« properly select and apply accounting pelicies consistentiy:

* present information. including accounting policies. in a manner that provides relevant. reliable. comparable and understandable
information;

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of the financial reporting framework are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions. other events and conditions on the entity’s
financial position and financialperformance; and

« make an assessment of the group's ability to continue as a geing concern,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that 1o the best of our knowledge:

« the financial statements. prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework. give a true and fair view of
the assets. liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole:

+ the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings inciuded in the consolidation taken as a whole. together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties that they face: and

+ the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole. are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the
informationnecessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance. business model and
strategy.

The responsibility statement was approved by the board of directors and is signed on 115 behalf by:

By order of the Board,

‘NLbz

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WHITBREAD
GROUP PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion

In our opinion:

¢ the financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC (the "Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 2
March 2023 and of the Group’s profit for the 52 weeks then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards;

¢ the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”; and

¢ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the Consolidated income statement;

the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the Consolidated and Parent Company batance sheets;

the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity;

the Consolidated cash flow statement;

the related notes te the consolidated financial statements 1 to 34, including the accounting policies;
and

s the related notes to the Parent Company financial statements 1 to 21.

¢ & & & & 0

The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements
is applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” {United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {ISAs {UK)) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that

are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s {the
‘FRC’s") Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical

16
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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group and
Parent company for the year are disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not
provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

* Impairment and impairment reversais of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

Newly identified
Increased level of risk

Similar level of risk

®O® O

Decreased level of risk

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £20.0 million
(2022: £16.0 million) which was determined based on 5.3% of adjusted profit before
tax which represents 0.64% of net assets (2022: 0.57% of net assets).

The materiality that we used for the parent company only financial statements is
£19 million (2022: £15.2 million) which was determined on the basis of 0.86% of
net assets (2022: 0.63% of net assets).

Scoping

We focused our Group audit scope primarily on ali significant trading entities at
Premier [nn in the UK and the Group head office, with specified audit procedures
performed for the Germany business.

These locations represent the principal business units and account for 95.1% of the
Group’s revenues and 99.8% of the Group’s net assets.

Significant changes in
our approach

In terms of Group materiality, we have used adjusted profit before tax as our
benchmark in the current year. In the prior year, the materiality benchmark was
net assets. The reason for this change was the impact of COVID-19 which
continued to affect the Group’s financial performance in the prior year.

Our audit report no longer includes the following as a key audit matter:

17
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*  Recognition of UK and Germany government grants — In the prior period,
we identified a key audit matter relating to the presentation and accuracy
of amounts received from government support in the UK and Germany. No
further claims have been made in relation to government grants during the
year and therefore we do not consider this to be a key audit matter in the
current year.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting included consideration of the following matters:

. Obtained an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the Group’s budgeting and
forecasting process;

. Obtained an understanding of the current economic market conditions relating to the Group’s
market;

. Verified the mechanical accuracy and assessed the model used to prepare the Group’s forecast;

. Challenged, with reference to external data, recent performance and historic forecasting
accuracy, the key assumptions used /applied in the group forecast;

. Assessed the mitigating actions available to the Group;

. Evaluated the impact of the proposed dividend payment on the Group’s gaing concern
assessment; and

. Assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s disclosure concerning the going concern.

Based an the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individualily or coliectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of meost significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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5.1. Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets @

Key audit matter
description

As described in Note 14 {Impairment}, Note 13 {Property, ptant and equipment)
and Note 21 {Lease Agreements) of the financial statements, the Group held
£4,554.2 million {2022: £4,227.1 million) of Property, plant and equipment and
£3,504.6 million {2022: £3,267.6 million) of Right-of-use assets at 3 March 2023,

Under IAS 36 impairment of Assets, the Group is required to complete an
impairment review of its site portfolic where there are indicators of impairment.
In the prior year, the Group recognised a net impairment reversal of £33.4 million
as a result of the recovery in financial performance ahead of previous forecasts
following the COVID-19 pandemic.

In the current year, although accommeodation sales have significantly increased
compared to the prior year, uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment has
driven higher market interest rates which has subsequently led to an increase in
market-based discount rates for both the UK and Germany. The discount rates are a
key assumption in the valuation of the Group’s portfolio of sites. Food and Beverage
{“F&B") sales are yet 1o recover 1o the levels achieved before the COVID-19
pandemic and this has led to judgement and complexity in the cash flow forecasting,
particularly for sites which are standalone restaurants and those specific sites where
F&B sales represent a more significant proportion of total sales.

in the current year, the Group recognised impairment losses in the UK of £54.2
miflion driven by the higher discount rate and lower cash flow forecasts for F&B
related sites. Impairment reversals were also recognised in the UK of £54.9 million,
on accommodation sites where anticipated cash flows have increased significantly
following the COVID-19 pandemic. in Germany, impairment fosses of £30.8 million
have been recognised driven by the higher discount rate and lower forecast cash
flows on specific sites. The net impairment charge for the year of £33.4 million
{£30.1 million from the impairment assessment and £3.3 million from the
impairment of assets held for sale} has been recognised through the consolidated
income statement.

Estimation is required in determining the recoverable amount of the Group’s
portfalio of sites. There is a risk that the carrying value of sites (including the
Property, plant and equipment and Right-of-use assets) may be higher than the
recoverable amount, which would indicate an impairment is required. There is aiso a
risk that the recoverable value of previcusly impaired sites is higher than the carrying
value, which would indicate an impairment reversal is required. Where an
impairment review is performed, the recoverable amount is determined based on
the higher of ‘'value-in-use” or fair value iess costs of disposal” (which is determined
through the use of either a discounted cash flow method using a market based
discount rate or an industry valuation methodology).
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Key audit matter

description
{continued)

There are several judgements in assessing the appropriate valuation, which are
set out below:

Determining the cash-generating units (“CGUs") that show indicators of
impairment or impairment reversal. A CGU is determined to be each
individual trading outlet;

Assessing the appropriate discount and long-term growth rates;

Estimating ot tuture trading earnings and cash flow projections, including the
recovery profile of F&B sales;

Assessing the future growth profile of sites which have not yet reached
maturity;

Assessing appropriateness of the valuation methodology, as well as inputs to
these; and

Estimating a reasonable possible change in assumptions for the purpose of
sensitivity analysis.

The Group’s accounting policy on impairment and key sources of estimation
uncertainty in relation to impairment testing are set out in Note 2. In addition,
impairment testing — property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is
also a significant matter considered by the Board of Directors.

How the scope
of our audit
responded ta
the key audit
matter

In responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following
audit procedures:

Obtained an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the
impairment review process and determination of cash flow forecasts;

Assessed the valuation methodologies adopted by management to identify
impairment indicators, including the consistency of these with the
requirements of IAS 36 and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

Tested the mechanical accuracy of the impairment models, with input from
our analytics and modelling specialists;

Assessed the completeness of CGUs displaying impairment indicators or
impairment reversal indicators by challenging a sample of CGUs for which no
indicators had been identified;

Assessed the appropriateness of the discount rates applied with involvement
of our internal valuation specialists and compared the rates applied with our
internal benchmarking data;

Assessed the appropriateness of forecast revenue and margin growth rates
through comparison to board approved plans with reference to historical
forecasting accuracy and external market data (such as industry forecasts);

Performed testing on a sample of sites where impairment had been
recognised, sites where impairment indicators had been identified, but no
impairment recognised and sites which indicated an impairment reversal
was required; we challenged the individual circumstances of these sites and
whether the rationale for management’s conclusion was appropriate. In
order to perform this assessment, we reviewed the trading history of the
site, understood its current performance with reference to market data and
assessed the appropriateness of Group-wide forecasts being applied;

Assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by management; and

Assessed the completeness and accuracy of disclosures within the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, in particular Note 14.
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Key observations

Based on the audit procedures performed, we are satisfied that the impairment

and impairment reversals recognised
disclosures, including the sensitivities

in the year are appropriate. We consider the
in Note 14, to be appropriate.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as

follows:
Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £20.0 million (2022; £16.0 million) £19.0 million {2022: £15.2 million)
Basis for We have determined materiality to be £20 Materiality was determined on the basis of
determining million, which represents 5.3% of adjusted  Parent Company’s net assets. This was
materiality profit befare tax. This represents 5.9% of then capped at 95% (2022: 95%) of group

statutory profit before tax and 0.68% of

net assets. Determined materiality in the
prior year was £16.0 million represented
0.57% of net assets.

materiality. This is consistent with the prior
vear. This represents 0.86% of net assets
{2022: 0.63% of net assets).

Rationale for
the benchmark
applied

In the previous year, we applied net assets
as the benchmark for determining
materiality given the continued impact of
COVID-19 on the Group’s financial
performance.

'n determining the benchmark for the
current year, we have considered the focus
of the users of the financial statements on
the Group’s trading performance and
determined that use of adjusted profit
before tax is the most appropriate
benchmark. The use of adjusted profit
before tax is consistent with our approach
prior to COVID-19.

As well as trading, the parent company
primarily acts as a holding company and
financing entity for the wider group. The
entity holds external debt and contains an
investment in all of the Group's trading
components and as a result, in line with the
prior year, we have determined materiality
on the basis of net assets for the current
year
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Group materiality
£20.0m
Component
materiality range
EEmto £15.0m

Adjusted prodic
before tax £375.4m

# Adjusted profir
before tax
® Group materiality

. Reporting threshold
£1.0m

6.2, Performance Materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate,

uncerrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality far the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance 70% (2022: 70%) of group materiality 70% (2022: 70%) of parent company
materiality materiality
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:
ratlonaI.e 'for & Qur risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall control
dei:rmlnlng environment; and
perrormance ’ R .
materiality * Our cumulative knowledge of the Group, including the nature, guantum and

volume of corrected and uncorrected misstatements in prior periods.

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to the Board all audit differences in excess of

£1.0 millien (2022: £0.8 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reparting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Beard of Directors on disclosure matters that we
identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. ldentification and scoping of components

Qur Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including
Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.

Components were selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of
material misstatement.

Based on our assessment, we have focused our audit on the UK business, which was subject to full audit
procedures, and performed specified audit procedures in the German business. Our component work
was performed by the Group audit team, with the assistance of component auditors in Germany.

These locations represant the principal business units and account for 95.1% of the Group's revenues
and 99.8% of the Group's total assets. For the UK business, component materiality was assessed at
£19.0 million and for Germany this was assessed at £8.0 million which was based on revenue.

At the Group level, we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical review procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information of the remaining components not subject to audit or specified audit procedures. We
have also performed anaiytical review procedures on other wholly owned and joint venture businesses.

Revenue

= Full audit scope

# Review at group level = Review at group level

7.2. Qur consideration of the control environment

The Whitbread 1T landscape contains a number of IT systems, applications and tools used to support,
business processes and for reporting. In line with our scoping of components (refer to section 7.1) our work
in relation to 1T controls focuses on the UK component. We perform an independent risk assessment of the
systems, applications and toois to determine those which are of greatest relevance to the Group’s financial
reporting, including those that contain system configured automated controls that host financially relevant
data and associated reports.

With involvement of our IT specialists we tested general IT Controls (“GITCs”) of these systems, typically
covering controls over user access management, change management and interfaces with gther systems
relating to in scope IT systems (such as Oracle Fusion) as well as controls over key reports generated from
the IT systems and their supporting infrastructure {database and operating system).
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In order to evaluate IT controls, we performed walkthrough procedures of relevant controls in key business
cycles, including revenue, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and expenditure (processed
through Oracle Fusien) to understand whether the purpose of the control was effectively designed to
address the IT related risk. We then performed testing of the relevant controls across the audit period, to
determine whether the controf had been consistently applied as designed.

Our procedures enabled us to place reliance on IT contrals, as planned, in the audit approach arross a
number of business cycles, where audit quality and effectiveness are enhanced by doing so. Based an the
testing performed, we adopted a controls reliance approach over the processes supporting revenue,
expenditure {processed through Oracle Fusion}, additions to property plant and equipment and intangible
assets.

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks

The full TCFD report is disclosed on page 52 of the Annual report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC {The
ultimate parent company) for the year ended 2 March 2023. The full TCFD report outlines the process they
have taken to identify the principal climate-related issues which have affected and will potentially affect the
business. We have considered the impact of these risks and the opportunities on the financial statements
and their conclusion that there is no material impact on the financial performance and position of the Group
(as described in Note 2 to the financial statements). We also reviewed the full Whitbread PLC TCFD report to
consider whether it is materiality consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained in
the audit.

As part of our risk assessment procedures, we have performed the following:

. Obtained an understanding of management’s process and controls in considering the impact of
climate risks;

. Performed enquiries of management and those charged with governance to understand the
impact of climate-related risks;

. Assessed whether the risks identified are complete and consistent with our understanding of the
Group’s business;

) Performed a review of the climate change risk assessment and related documentation prepared
by management and assessed whether it is consistent with the ESG disclosure on page 9 of the
Group’s accounts and our knowledge obtained in the audit; and

¢  Evaluated whether appropriate disclosures have been made in relation to climate-related risks in
the financial statements.

7.4 Working with other auditors
The Group audit team is responsible for the scope and direction of the audit process and provides direct
oversight, review and coordination of our component audit teams. During the current year we engaged
component auditars from the Deloitte member firm in Germany to perform specific procedures on the
German entities. This approach allowed us to engage local auditors who have appropriate knowledge of
local regulations to perform this audit work. We issued detailed instructions to the component auditer and
directed and supervised their work.

We interacted regularly with the component Deloitte team during each stage of the audit and reviewed key

working papers. We maintained continuous and open dialogue with our component teams in addition to
holding formal meetings so that we were fully aware of their progress and results of their procedures.
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8. Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, being the strategic reports on
pages 3 to 12, other than the financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our cpinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conciusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financiaf statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Respeansibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financia! statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to geing concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Cur cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or errar, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is 2 high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with [SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement whan it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they couid reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.orp.uk/auditorsrespensibilitiss. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11.Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

e the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the
design of the Group’s remuneration policies applicable to the group, key drivers for directors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

e results of aur enquiries of management, internal audit, General Counsel, Whitbread PLC Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities;

* any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of
any instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;

o the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

e the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including
tax, valuations, pensions, 1T and financial instrument specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area: impairment and
impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. in common with all audits
under 1SAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management
override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group aperates in,
focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financiat statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this
context included the UK Companies Act, , pensions legislation and UK and overseas tax legislation.
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In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to operate or to
avoid a material penalty.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and
equipment and right-of use assets as a key audit matter related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit
matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific procedures
we performed in response to those key audit matters.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

* reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supperting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;

* enquiring of management, the Board of Directors and General Counsel concerning actual and
potentiat litigation and claims;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstaternent due to fraud;

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
carrespondence with HMRC; and

® in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the narmal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified taws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members including internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance
with faws and regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

¢ the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

¢ the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements. In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment
chtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic repaort
or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1. Adeguacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to repart to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have notreceived all the infarmation and explanations we require for our audit; or

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

* the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14. Other matters which we are required to address

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the board of directors of Whitbread Group PLC, we were appointed by the
members on 21 June 2015 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 3 March 2016 and subseguent
financiaf periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and
reappointments of the firm is eight years, covering the years ending 3 March 2016 to 2 March 2023.

14.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Board of Directors

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors we are required to provide
in accordance with I15As {UK).
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15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the

company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Kate ) Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Londen, UK

25 July 2023
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Consolidated income statement
Year ended 2 March 2023

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks to 3 March 2022

Before adjusting Adjusting items Before adjustimg Adjusting items
items (Note 6)  Statutory tterms {Nate 6} Statatory
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations

Revenue 3 2,625.2 - 2,625.2 1.703.4 - 1,703.4
Qther income 4 8.0 4.7 12,7 1224 87 131.1
Operating costs 3 (2.089.0) 3.2y (2.132.2) (1,669.6) 653 (1,6043)
Impairment of loans Lo joint ventures 15 (L.5) - (1.5) (£.8) - (i.8)
Operating profit/tioss} before joint ventures 5427 (38.5) 504.2 154.4 74.0 2284
Share of profit from joint ventures 15 23 - 2.3 0.4 - 0.4
Operating profit/(loss) 545.0 (38.5) 506.5 1548 74.0 2288
Finance costs : (205.0) - (205.0) (215.00 - (2150
Finance income 8 36.8 - 36.8 4.5 - 45
Profit/(loss) before tax 376.8 (38.5) 338.3 (55.7) 740 183
Tax {(experseyoredit 10 (78.3) (10.9) (89.2) 17.8 (24.3) 6.7)
Profit/{loss) for the year attributable to parent 298.5 (494} 249.1 379 49.5 11.6

Shareholders
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Y ear ended 2 March 2023
52 weeksto2 53 weeks to 3
March 2023 March 2022
Nates £t £
Profit for the year 2491 11.6
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement:

Remeasurement (loss)/gain on defined bene (it pension scheme 31 (223.6) 3188
Current tax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 0.7 -
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 54.7 {R80)
(168.2) 2308

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedges 24 (1.3) 24
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges i0 - (0 5}
Net {loss)/gain on hedge of a net investment 24 22.2) 9.0
Deferred tax on net loss/{(gain) on hedge of a net investment 19 2.1 0 8)
Cost of hedgmg 24 1.1 2.5
(20.3) 12.6
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 37.3 {le)
Deferred tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 4.0) 2.7
333 (13.3)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (155.2) 2301
Total comprehensive income for the yvear, net of tax 93.9 2417
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Year ended 2 March 2023

Currency
Share Share Retained translation Hedging

capital premium earnings reserve reserve Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 25 February 2021 133.7 2077 22086 28.7 (1.9 2,576.8
Profit for the year - - 116 - - 1.6
Other comprehensive income - - 230.8 4.4) 37 230.1
Total comprehensive income - - 242.4 (4.4) 37 241.7
Accrued share-based payments (Note 30) - - 129 - - 129
Tax on share-based payments - - (0.2) - - 0.2)
At 3 March 2022 1337 207.7 24637 24.3 1.8 28312
Profit for the year - - 249.1 - - 2491
Other comprehensive income - - (168.2) 10.7 23 (155.2)
Total comprehensive income - - 80.9 10.7 23 93.9
Accrued share-based payments (Note 30) - - 17.9 - - 17.9
Tax on share-based payments - - (0.1} - - 0.1
At 2 March 2023 133.7 207.7 2,562.4 35.0 4.1 2,942.9
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Consolidated balance sheet
At 2 March 2023

2 March 2023 3 March 2022
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 179.6 1593
Right-of-use assets 21 3.504.6 32676
Property, piant and equipment 13 4,554.2 42271
Investment in joint ventures 15 48.2 41.1
Derivative financial instruments 24 - 158
Defined benefit pension surplus 31 324.7 3226
8611.3 82335
Current assets
Inventories 16 217 19.4
Current tax asset 10 25 7.6
Trade and other receivables 17 141.8 116.4
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1.164.8 1,1324
1.330.8 12758
Assets classified as held for sale i3 3.2 648
Total assets 99453 9.574.1
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 - -
Lease liabilities 21 144.1 129.3
Provisions 22 20.2 19.6
Trade and other payables 25 1.852.1 18659
2,016.4 20148
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 993.4 9519
Lease liabilities 21 358143 3,572.5
Provisions 22 83 11.7
Derivative financial instruments 24 78 -
Deferred tax liabilities 10 158.4 150.8
Trade and other payables 25 38 12
4,986.0 47281
Total liabilitics T.002.4 6.742.9
Net assets 29429 2.831.2
Equity
Share capital 26 133.7 1337
Share premium 27 207.7 207.7
Retained eamings 27 25624 24637
Currency translation reserve 27 35.0 24.3
Other reserves 27 4.1 1.8
Fotal equity 29429 28312

S

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Gfficer 25 July 2023
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year cuded 2 March 2023

52 weeks to 53 weeks to
2 March 2023 3 March 2022
Notes £m £m
Cash generated from operations 28 997.8 695.2
Payments against provisions 2.7) (18.9)
D fiad Do il poasion suliene payietits {15.7} (14.8)
Interest paid — lease liabilities {138.7) {133.2)
Interest paid - other 32.0) (20 2)
Interest received 226 22
Corporation taxes paid {29.9) (0.1}
Net cash flows from operating activities 801.4 510.2
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 3 (482.0) 200.4)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 59.6 56.4
Investment in intangible assets 3 (36.8) (21.1)
Movement in funding of parent company (150.3) 0.4
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration 25 (253) (36.3)
Capital contributions to joint ventures 13 - a4
Loans advanced to joint ventures 15 (1.5) (1.8)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (636.3) (204.2)
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities
Drawdowns of long-term borrowings 19 - 50.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings 19 - (353 9)
Payment of facility fees 4.2) -
Net lease incentives received 35 20
Payment of principal of lease liabilities (133.9) (127 1)
Net cash flows used in financing activities {134.6) (429.0)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19 30.5 (123.0)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 19 1,132.4 1.256.0
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 19 1.9 (0.6)
Closing cash and cash equivalents 18 I,164.8 1,132.4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Year ended 2 March 2023

1. General Information and autherisation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 25 July 2023, Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company's senior unsecured bonds are listed on
the London Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PLC. its subsidiaries and joint ventures, operate hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and internationally.

2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and the defined benefit pension scheme. as explained in the
accounting policies below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
except when otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 52 weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior financial year: 53 weeks to 3
March 2022).

Going concern

A combination of the strong cash flows generated by the business, and the significant available headroom on its credit facilities,
support the directors™ view that the Group has sufficient funds available for it to meet its foreseeable working capital
requirements. In reaching this conclusion, the directors have considered all elements of the capital allocation framework. The
directors have also determined that, over the period of the going concern assessment. there is not expected to be a significant
impact as a result of climate change.

The assessment of the Group to continue as a going concern is supported by the following:

+ Cash and cash equivalents of £1.2bn at the balance sheet date.

* The Group maintains headroom to its current financial covenants in excess of £2.0 billion throughout the going concern
period.

» £1.0 billion of sterting bonds maturing outside of the going concern period. between October 2025 and May 203 1. with no
covenants.

The directors have therefore concluded that the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriafe.

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consisient with those followed in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3 March 2022, except for the adoption of the new
standards and policies applicable for the vear ended 2 March 2023. The significant accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting peried commencing 4 March
2022:

«  Amendments to 1AS 16 Property. Plant and Equipment — proceeds before intended use (effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022)

*  Amendments 1o IAS 37 — Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective for periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022)

*«  Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective for periods beginning on or after | January
2022)

* Annual Improvements to 1FRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle
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Notes to the consolidated financial staterments (continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Standards issued by the IASB not effective for the current year and not early adopted by the Group

Whilst the following standards and amendments are relevant to the Group, they have been assessed as having minimal or no
financial impact or additional disclosure requirements at this time:

» IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

*  Amendments to [AS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (eftective for periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023)

+  Amendments 10 1AS 1 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 lanuary 2023)

«  Amendments to IFRS 10 Conselidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 — Sale or contribution of Assets Between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

«  Amendments to [AS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimate (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

«  Amendments to 1AS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (effective for
periods beginning on or after | January 2023)

The Group does not intend to early adopt any of these new standards or amendments.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statcments incorporate the accounts of Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries, together with the
Group’s share of the net assets and results of joint ventures incorporated using the equity method of accounting. These are
adjusted. where appropriate, to conform to Group accounting policies. The financial statements of significant trading subsidiarics
are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company,

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:
* has power over the invcstee;
* isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns [rom its involvement with the investee; and
= has the ability to use its power to affect its returns,

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to onc or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Acquisitions by the Group are accounted for under the acquisition method and any goodwill arising is capitalised as an intangible
asset. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the conselidated financial statements
from, or up to. the date that control passes respectively. All intra-group transactions, balances, income. and expenses are
eliminated on conyolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair vatue. which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and any equity interest issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes contingent consideration, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the *measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration at subsequent reporting dates that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments are recognised within finance costs in the consolidated income statement, unless the contingent consideration is
classified as equity.

if the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, Lo reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial staterments (continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acguisition is capitalised and represents the excess of the fair value of consideration over the value of the
Group’s interest in the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary. at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised but
reviewed for impairment annually. or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. An intangible asset acquired as part of a business
combination is recognised at fair value. scparately from goodwill if the asset is separable. or arises from contractual or other legal
rights, and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation of I'T software and technology is calculaled on a straight-line basis over the estimated life which varies between
three and ten vears.

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they may not be recoverable.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements

Saa8 arrangements are service contracts providing the Company with the right to access the cloud provider’s application software over
the contract period. Costs incurred to configure or customise. and the ongoing fees to obtain access to the cloud provider’s application
software, are recognised as operating expenses when the services are received.

Some of these costs incurred are for the development of software code that enhances or modifies. or creates additional capability to,
existing on-premise sysiems and meets the definition of and recognition criteria for an intangible asset. These costs are recognised as
intangible softwarc assets and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. The useful lives of these assets are
reviewed at least at the end of each financial yvear. and any change accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired separately from a business are stated at cost or deemed cost at transition to IFRS, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Gross interest costs incurred on the financing of qualifying asscts are
capitalised until the time that the assets are available for use. Property, plant and equipment acquired as part of a business
combination are recognised at fair value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
asset as follows:

+ frechold land is not depreciated:
+ freehold and long leasehold buildings are depreciated to their estimated residual values over periods up to 50 years: and
» plant and equipment is depreciated over three to 235 years.

The residual values and estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

Profits or fosses on disposal of property. plant and equipment reflect the difference between net selling price and carrying
amount at the date of disposal and are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investment property

Investment property assets. including properties which are owned by the Group and properties which are leased by the Group, are
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. The depreciation policies for investment
property are consistent with those described for property, plant and equipment.
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2. Accounnting policies (continued)

Leases

Right-of-use assels

The Group recognises right-of-use assets for hotei and restaurant properties which are used in the Premier Inn business and other
equipment at the commencement date of the lease (i.¢. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-ofeuse assets are
measured at cost. less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-mcasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assct is depreciated over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease. the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate less any lease incentives receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate {(e.g. turnover reat) are
recognised as an expense in the period over which the event or condition that friggers the payment occurs. The Group incurs
service charges on property leases which are non-lease components of the contract under IFRS 16 and therefore these charges are
recorded separately within operating costs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments. the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. Incremental borrowing rates are determined quarterly and
depend on the country, currency and start date of the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on a series of
inputs including: the risk-free rate based on Government bond rates: a country specific risk adjustment: and a eredit risk
adjustment based on the Group’s credit rating.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for lease
payments made. In addition, the carrving amount of lease Habilities is re-measured if there is a modification or a change in the
lease term. Cash outflows relating to lease interest are recorded within net cash flows from operating activities and cash outflows
relating to principal repayments are included within net cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction occurs when the Group sells an assel and immediately reacquires the use of the same asset by
entering into a lease with the buyer. A sale occurs when control of the underlying asset passes to the buyer. A lease liability is
recognised, the associated property, plant and equipment asset is derecognised, and a right-of-use asset is recognised at the
proportion of the carrying value relating to the right retained. Any gain or loss arising relates o the rights transferred to the
buyer.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Rental income
‘The Group recognises rental income from leases on a straight-line basis over the lease lerm within other income in the
consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assels

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asscts are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. For the purposes of the impairment review,
the Group considers cach trading outlet to be a separate cash generating unit (CGU). Consideration is also given, where
appropriate, to the market value of the asset either from independent sources or. in conjunction with an accepted industry
valuaiion methodology. Any impairment in the values of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is charged to the
consolidated income statement.

The Group assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Individual assets are grouped, for impairment assessment purposes. at the
lowest level at which there are identitiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets (cash
generating units or CGUs). If such indication of impairment exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset group is
required, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its fair valuc less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows. the recoverable amount is determined with reference to the CGU to which the asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement within operating costs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of other assets in the CGUJ, on a pro-rata basis.

An assessment is made at cach reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recogniscd impairment losscs
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists. the CGU’s recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimated future cash flows used to determine the
assel’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation. had no impairment oss been recognised for the asset in prior years,

Such a reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement. After such a reversal. the depreciation charge is adjusted in
future periods to allocate the asset’'s carrying amount, less any residual value, on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life.

For the purposes of impairment testing, all centrally held assets are allocated in line with IAS 36 to CGUs based on management’s
view of the consumption of the asset. Any resuiting impairment is recorded against the centrally held asset.

Goodwiil

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to groups of CGUs at the level management monitors goodwill.
which is at an operating segment level. The Group performs an annual review of its goodwill to ensure that its carrying amount is
not greater than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of fair value, less costs of disposal
and value in use. An impairment is then made to reduce the carrying amount to the recoverable amount.

Investments injoint ventures

The Group assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment exists. the carrying amount of the investment is compared with its
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the investment i1s written down to its
recoverable amount.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale only if available for immediate sale in their present condition
and a sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year from the date of ¢lassification. Such assets are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less the cost of disposal. and are not depreciated or amortised.

In accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the nct results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated income statement.
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Inventories
Inventorics are stated at the lower of cost and nect realisable value. Cost is caleulated on the basis of first in, [irst out and net

rcalisable value is the estimated selling price less any costs to sell.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event. it is probable
that an oulflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

Puvisions aré discounted to present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The amertisation of the discount is recognised as a finance cost,

Onerous contracis
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obtigations under the contract exceed

the economic benefits expected to be received under it

Restructuring costs

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan and has raised a valid expectation, in
those affected. that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those
affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring
which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of
the entity.

Adjusting items and use of alternative performance measures
We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both statutory measures

in accordance with IFRS and alternative performance measures (APMSs) which are consistent with the way the business
performance is measured internally by the Board and Executive Committee. A glossary of APMs and reconciliations to statutory
measures is included in the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022,

The term adjusted profil is not defined under IFRS and may not be directly comparable with adjusted profit measures used by
other companies. It is not intended to be a substitute for. or superior to, statutory measures of profit. Adjusted measures of
profitability are non-IFRS because they exclude amounts that are included in, or include amounts that are excluded from, the
most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Group makes certain adjustments to the statutory profit measures in order to derive many of its APMs. The Group’s policy is to
exclude items that are considered to be significant in nature and quantum. not in the normal course of business or are consistent with
itemns that were treated as adjusting in prior periods or that span multiple financial periods. Treatment as an adjusting item provides users
of the accounts with additional useful information to assess the year-on-year trading performance of the Group.

On this basis, the following are examples of items that may be classified as adjusting items:

-+ net charges associated with the strategic programme in relation to the review of the hotel estate. excluding those relating to
financing;

- significant restructuring costs and other associated costs arising from strategy changes that are not considered by the Group to be
part of the normal operating costs of the business;

« significant pension charges arising as a result of the changes to UK defined benefit scheme practices;

» net impairment and related charges for sites which are/were underperforming that are considered to be significant in nature
and/or value to the trading performance of the business:

* costs in relation to non-trading legacy sites which are deemed to be significant and not reflective of the Group’s ongoing trading
results:

« profit or loss on the safe of a business or investment, and the associated cost impact on the continuing business from the sale of
the business or investment;

= acquisition costs incurred as part of a business combination or other strategic asset acquisitions:

- amortisation of intangible assets recognised as part of a business combination or other transaction outside of the ordinary course
of business; and

= tax settlements in respect of prior years. including the related interest and the impact of changes in the statutory tax rate, the
inclugion of which would distort year-on-year comparability. as well as the tax impact of the adjusting items identifted above.

The directors believe that the adjusted profit share measure provide additional useful information to shareholders on the
performance of the business. These measures are consistent with how business performance is measured internaily by the
Board and Executive Comunillee.
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Foreign currency translation

Monetary asscts and liabilities demominated in foreign currencies are franslated into funciional currency at the rates of exchange
quoted at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Day-to-day transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency at an average rate for the month in which
those transactions take place, which is used as a reasonable approximation 1o the actual transaction rate. Translation differences on
monetary items are taken to the consolidated income statement.

A number of subsidiaries within the Group have a non-sterling functional currency. The financial performance and ¢nd position of
these entities are translated into sterling in the consolidated financial statements. Balance sheet items are translated at the rate
applicable at the balance sheet date. Transactions reported in the consolidated income statement are translated using an average
rate for the month in which they occur.

The differences that arise from translating the results of toreign entities at average rates of exchange, and their asscts and
liabilities at closing rates. are deait with in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity. the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equily refating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All other currency gains and losses are dealt with in the income statement,

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised al an amount that reflects the consideration 1o which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. Consideration is net of discounts, allowances for customer loyalty and other
promotional activities and amounts collected on behalf of other parties, such as value added tax. Revenue includes duties which
the Group pays as principal.

The Group has analysed its business activities and applied the five step model prescribed by IFRS 15 Revenue from Coniracls
with Customers to each material line of business, as outlined below:

Sale of accommodation

The contract to provide accommodation is established when the customer books accommodation. The performance obligation is to
provide the right to use accommodation for a given number of nights, and the transaction price is the room rate for each night
dectermined at the time of booking. The performance obligation is met when the customer is given the right to use the
accommodation, and so revenue is recognised for cach night as it takes place. at the room rate for that night.

Sale af food and beverage

The contract is established when the customer orders the food or beverage item and the performance obligation is the provision of
food and beverage by the outlet. The performance obligation is satistied when the food and beverage is delivered to the customer,
and revenue is recognised at this point at the price for the items purchased. Payment is made on the same day and consequently
there are no contract assets or liabilities.

Payment terms

Customers may pay in advance for accommodation, food and beverage. In this case the Group has received consideration for
services not yvet provided. This is treated as a contract liability uniil the performance obligation is met. The Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15 1o not adjust the consideration for the effects of a financing component as the
period between payvment and the performance obligation is less than one year.

Payment terms for corporate customers are generally 30 days with amounts recorded in trade and other receivables once the
performance obligations have been met.

Consideration receivable from HM Revenue & Customs
Consideration received from HM Revenuc & Customs under the Eat Out to Help Out Scheme is recognised within revenue from
sales of food and beverage.

Contract costs
The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of [FRS 15 and consequently contract costs incurred related to contracts
with an amortisation period of less than one year have been expensed as incurred.
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Revenue recognition {continued)

Variahle consideration

The Group makes an estimate, based on historical information. of amounts that will be refunded to customers. The refund liability
represents variable consideration under ITFRS 15 with revenue recognised reduced by this amount and a corresponding liability
recognised in other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.

Certain of the Group’s restaurants offer customer loyalty programmes whereby the customer can earn vouchers for historic
purchases which are redeemable as disconnts on future purchases. The loyalty points issucd by the Group are a separate
performance obligation providing a material right to a future discount. The sales price of goods is allocated to the loyalty points
and the goods sold based on their relative standalone selling prices. with the loyalty points standalone price based on the value of
the points to the customer, adjusted for expected redemption rates. The amount allocated to loyaly points is deferred as a contract
liability within trade and other payables. Revenue is recognised as the points are redeemed by the customer.

Finance income
Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues, using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the peried in which they are incurred. except for gross interest costs incurred on
the financing of major projects. which are capitaliscd until the time that the projects are available for use.

Retirement benefits

In respect of the defined benefit pensicn scheme. the surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the fair value
of scheme assets, reduced by the present value of the defined benefit obligation. Where the calculation results in a surplus to the
Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future available refunds from the plan.

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Re-measurements are
recogniscd in full in the period in which they occur in the statement of comprehensive income and are not reclassified to the
consolidated income statement in subsequent periods.

For defined benefit plans, the employer’s portion of the past and current service cost is charged to operating profit. with net
interest costs reported within finance costs. In addition, all administration costs, other than those relating 1o the management of
plan assets or taxes payable by the plan itself, are charged as incurred to operating costs in the consolidated income statement, Net
interest is calculated by applying the opening discount rate to the opening net defined benefit obligation, taking into account the
expected contributions and benefits paid.

On 20 November 2020, the High Court ruled that pension schemes will need to revisit and equalise guaranteed minimum pensions
for historic individual transfers. The ruling impacted the Group's actuarial surplus as it will lead to an increase in pension
obligations. The Group recognised the increase in its defined benefit liability as a charge to the consolidated income statement.

Curtailments and settlements relating to the Group’s defined benefit plan arc recognised in the period in which the curtailment or
settlement occurs.

Payments to defined contribution pension schemes are charged as an cxpense as they fall due.

Government grants

A Government grant is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet within other receivables when there is reasonable assurance
that it will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants are recognised within other
income in the consolidated income statement at a point in time to match the timing of the recognition of the related expenses they
arc intended to compensate. Where cash is received in advance of the associated conditions being met, the grant is recorded
within trade and other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settied transactions

Certain emplovees and directors of the Group receive equity-settied remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares in the immediate and Ultimate
Parent Company (Whitbread PLC).

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value. determined using a stochastic model, at the
date at which they arc granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised. together with a corresponding increase in
equity representing the transaction with the Ultimate Parent Company, over the period in which the performance conditions ot
non-vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending on the relevant vesting date. Except for awards subject to market-related conditions
for vesting, the cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions, at each reporting date until the vesting date, retlects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired, and is adjusted to reflect the directors’ best available estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that peried. If options are subject to market-related conditions.
awards are not cumulatively adjusted for the likelihood of these targets being met. Instead. these conditions are included in the fair
value of the awards.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of canceilation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. Where an equity-settled award is forfeited. the related expense recognised to
date is reversed.

Where an equity-settled award is replaced by newly granted instruments, these are accounted for as a modification of the existing
award. When the terms of an equity-settled award are modificd. the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value of
the unmodified award. provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date of
modification, is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the sharg-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee.

Tax
The income tax charge represents both the income tax payable, based on profit for the year. and deferred income tax.

Deferred income tax is recognised in tull. using the liability method, in respect of temporary differences between the tax base of
the Group’s assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts that have originated but have not been reversed by the balance sheet
date. No deferred tax is recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability, in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in joint ventures. except where the timing of the reversa) of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is revicwed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no lenger probabfe that sufficient taxabie profit will be avaifable to alfow all, or part
of. the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and Habilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income. Similarly. income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are charged or
credited directly to equity. Otherwise. income tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Investments in joint ventures
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as cither joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.

The Group's investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in
a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to joint ventures is included in the
carrying amount of the investment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the joint ventures. Any change in
other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the interest in the joint venture, When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.

Financial assets

Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are initially measured at fair value. Subscquently they are measured at amortised cost as the
objective of the business model is to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give
rise to cash flows on specificd dates which are solely payments of principal and interest,

In line with the IFRS 9 Financial Instruments “simplified approach’. the Group segments its trade receivables and contracet assets
based on shared characteristics. and recognises a loss allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss for each segment. The
expected credit loss is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience. adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of the current and forecast conditions at the reporting date.

Credit impaired financial assets

A financial asset is ¢redit impaired when one of more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occnrred, such as significant financial difficulty of the debtor or default by the debtor. The Group writes
off a financial asset where there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Credit losses are recorded within operating costs in the
consolidated income statement.

Cash and eash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and deposits (including Money Market Funds) which are short

term, highly liquid and which are not at significant risk of changes in value,

Recaognition and derecognition

The recognition of financial assets occurs when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash tlows from the asset expire. or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Derivatives and hedging
The Group enters into derivative transactions to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured {o their fair
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements untess the Group has both the legal right
and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.
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Derivatives and hedging (continued)
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging ins{ruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as fajr

value hedges and cash tlow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments arc accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged

item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group documents ;

whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting the hedged risk. by confirming that:

+ there is an economic relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrument:

« the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship: and

* the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratio of hedge: hedge item. The fair value change on
qualifying fair vatue hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item atfects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hedpe relationship ceases to meet the qualitying criteria. or when the hedging

instrument expires, is sold, terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a ner investment

Hedges of a net mvestment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the
effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or lesses relating to the inetfective
portion are recognised in the statement of protit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operatien. the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Group uses a cross currency swap as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign
subsidiaries. Refer to Note 23 and Note 24 for more details.

Financial liabilities
Debt and equity instruments are classified as financial liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance ot the contractual
arrangements.

Financial liabilitics are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method unless they are required to be measured

at fair value through profit or loss or the Group has opted to measurc them at fair value through the profit or loss. The cffective
interest rate method calculates the amortised cost of a financial liability and allocates interest expensc to the relevant period.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of any directly associated issue costs.
Borrowings are subsequently recorded at amortised cost, with any ditference between the amount initially recorded and the
redemption value recognised in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest method.

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations and assct acquisitions, is valued at fair value at the
acquisition date as part of the business combination. When the contingent consideration meets the definition of a financial
liability, it is subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is based on
discounted cash flows.

Where the period between acquisition and payment is not significant. cash outflows for contingent consideration are included
within cash flows from investing activities. Where the period of deferral is significant. excess payments over the fair value

recognised at acquisition are recognised within cash flows trom financing activitics. None of the Group’s contingent consideration i

is deemcd to relate to post-acquisition remuneration.
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Financial liabilities (continued)
Recognition and derecognition
The recognition of [iabilities occurs when the Group becomes party Lo the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The derecognition of financial liabilities occurs when the obligation under the liability is discharged. cancelled or expires. When
the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially different terms, such
exchange ts accounted for as an extinguishment of the original fnancial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Critiral arcounting judgoments and hey svurces ul estimadon uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported as assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported as revenues and expenses during the year. Although
these amounts are based on management’s best estimates. events or actions may mean that actual results ultimately ditfer from those
estimates, and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed
regularly.

The Group has considered the impact of ¢limate-related risks on its financial performance and position. and although the impact
represents an uncertainty. it is not considered to be material.

Critical accounting judgements

The following are the critical accounting judgements, apart from those involving estimations (dealt with separately below) that
management have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Adjusting items

During the yvear certain items are identified and separately disclosed as adjusting items. Judgement is applied as to whether the
item meets the necessary criteria as per the accounting pelicy disclosed earlier in this note. This assessment covers the nature of
the item. cause of occurrence and the scale of impact of that item on reported performance, Reversals of previous adjusting items
are assessed based on the same criteria. Note 6 provides information on all of the items disclosed as adjusting in the current year
and comparative financial statements.

Property transaction including sale and leaseback of land

During the period, the Group entered into a sale and lease transaction of a single property, comprising land and a hotel currently
under construction, Under the agreement. the Group is acting as the developer of the site. As a part of the transaction. the
property is being developed into a completed hote! asset via a forward funding agreement with a counterparty. The transaction’s
sale, development and subsequent lease contracts were all negotiated together as one commercial transaction, with the
transaction prices allocated based on the negotiated position rather than standalone contracts,

In relation to the land portion of the site sold, management has reviewed the criteria within IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers and IFRS 16 Leases, concluding that a sale and leaseback for the land has occurred to the counterparty.

In relation to the hotel under construction asset, management has reviewed IFRS 15, concluding that a sale for this asset has
occurred to the counterparty and the building leased back in the future will be the completed hotel, not the same asset that was
sold. Therefore, management has concluded that the current year sale and future lease of the completed hotel does not represent a
sale and leaseback under IFRS 16.

Treatment of sale and leaseback of land

The land on which the hotel is being developed has been sold with Whitbread holding no rights to re-obtain the legal title. The
performance obligation for the sale of land has been satisfied as defined under [FRS 15. A gain of £3.1m is recognised on the
sale of the land, which represents the proportion of the land assessed as having been sold and subject to leaseback at practical
completion of the site sold. In assessing the gain to he recognised on the sale and leaseback transaction, management has
considered the fair value of the land at the sale date against the consideration allocated for the sale of the land.

Treatment for sale of hotel under construction

During the period, the performance obligation associated with the sale of the hotel under construction was assessed as being
satisfied such that the asset has been derecognised. Nil gain was recognised as allocated proceeds were substantially similar to
the carrying value of the building. The Group is exposed to cost overruns on the development of the hotel. Due to the allocation
of the transaction’s proceeds to the land, net costs of £1.7m have been recognised, reducing the overall transaction’s gain in the
reporting period as the commercial terms were negotiated together. The net gain recognised on this transaction of £1.4m has
been based on an assessment of the obligations completed under the terms of the agreement.

46



Whitbread Group PLC ,

Notes to the consclidated financial statements (continued)
2. Accounting policies {continued)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key areas of estimation uncertainty that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. ‘

Defined benefit pension

Dectined benefit pension plans are accounted tor in accordance with actuarial advice using the prejected unit credit method. The
Group makes significant estimates in relation to the discount rates, mortality rates and inflation rates used to calculate the present
value of the defined benefit obligation. Note 31 describes the assumptions used together with an analysis of the sensitivity to
changes in key assumptions.

Impairment testing — Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
The performance of the Group™s impairment review requires management to make a number ot estimates. These are set out below:

Identification of indicators of impairment and reversal
The Group assesses each of its CGUs for indicators of impairment or reversal on an annual basis and. where there are indicators
of impairment or reversal, management performs an impairment assessment.

Inputs used 1o estimate value in use
The estimate of value in use is most sensitive to the following inputs:

« Five-year business plan — forecast cash flows for the initial five-vear period are based on the five-year business plan.
which is based on results from FY23.

« Discount rate — judgement is required in estimating the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of a typical market
participant and in assessing the specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The rate used is adjusted
tor the Group’s gearing, including equity, borrowings and lease liabilities

» lmmature sites - judgement is required to estimaite the time taken for sites 1o reach maturity and the sites’ trading level
once they are mature.

Methodology used to estimate fair value

Fair value is determined using a range of methods. including present value techniques using assumptions consistent with the value
in use calculations and market multiple techniques using externally available data.

Key estimates and sensitivities for impairment of assets arc disclosed in Note 14.
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Whitbread Group PL.C

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3. Segment information
The Group provides services in relation to accommedation, food and beverage both in the UK and internationally. Management
monitors the operating results of ils operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance. Segment performance is measurcd based on adjusted operating profit before joint ventures. Included
within central and other in the following tables are the costs of running the public company, other central overhead costs and
share of profit from joint ventures.

The following tables present revenue and profit information regarding business operating segments for the years ended 2 March
2023 and 3 March 2022,

52 wecks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks 1o 3 March 2022
K& Central UK & Central

Revenue Ireland Germany and other Total Ireland Germany and other Total

£m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m

Accommodation 1,795.0 100.1 - 1,895.1 11578 29.1 - 1,186.9

Food, beverage and other items 127 174 - 730.1 5104 6.1 - 516.5

Revenue 2,507.7 117.5 - 2,625.2 1,668.2 352 - 1,703 4

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks to 3 March 2022
UK & Central UK & Central

Ireland  Germany and other Total Treland Germany and other Total

Profit/(loss) £m £m £m £m £m fm fm £m

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) before joint 616.6 (35.9) (38.9) 542.7 199.6 as4) (29.8) 1544

ventures

Share of profit from joint ventures

- - 2.3 23 - - 0.4 04

Adjusted operating profit/{ioss) 616.6 35.9) (35.7) 5450 199.6 (15.4) (29.4) 154.8

Net finance costs (124.9) 13.8) (29.5) (168.2) (124.7) (8.3) (77 3) {210.3)

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax 491.7 49.7) (65.2) 3768 74.9 (23.9) (106 7) (55.7)

Adjusting items before tax (Note 6) (38.5) 74.0

Profit before tax 3383 183

In relation to the previous year’s results. adjusted operating profit/(loss) for the UK & Ireland segment included the impact of £126 5m from Govemnment grants whilst the German segment
included the impact of £44 3m, The UK & Irefand segment includes the impact of the release of a previously held provision of £4.7m. Reter to Note 9 for details.

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks to 3 March 2022
Other segment information UK and Central Total UK and Central Total
Ireland Germany and other  operations Ireland Germany and other operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital expenditure:
Property, plant and equipment — cash basis 465.9 76.1 - 482.0 148.1 523 - 200.4
Property, plant and equipment and investment
property — accruals basis (Note 13) 430.4 73.7 - 504.1 165.8 54.2 - 220.0
[ntangible assets (Note 12) 36.7 0.1 - 36.8 211 - - 21.1
Cash outflows from !ease interest and pay ment
of principal of lease liahilities 2340 386 - 2726 2345 258 - 260.3
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment 152.2 11.0 - 163.2 1483 96 - 157.9
Depreciation — right-of-use assets 133.6 322 - 165.8 1252 229 - 148.1
Amortisation 16.3 0.2 - 16.5 206 0.3 - 209
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3. Segment information (continued)

Segment assets and habilities are not disclosed because they are not reported to. or reviewed by, the Chief Operating Decision Maker

2022/23 2021/22
The Group’s revenue, split by country in which the legal entity resides, is as follows: £m £m
United Kingdom 2,487.7 1,661.8
Germany 1175 352
Other 20.0 6.4
2023 2022
‘The Group’s non-current assets', split by country in which the legal entity resides. are as follows: £m £m
United Kingdom 6,869.2 6,371.3
Germany 1.216.2 1.005.1
Other 201.2 114.7
8,286.6 7.695.1
‘Non-current assets exclude denvative financial instruments and the surplus on the Group's defined benefit pension scheme
4, Other income
An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows:
2022/23 202122
£m fm
Rental income 3.1 79
Government grants! {Note 9) 4.7 1138
Orther 0.2 0.7
Other income before adjusting items 8.0 1224
Eegal claim settlement (Note 6) 4.7 -
VAT settlement (Note 6) - 87
Other income 12,7 1311

'£4.7m has been released from a previcusly held provision relating to Govemnment grants. Refer to Note 9 for details
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Notes to the consolidated financial staterments (continued)
5. Operating costs

An analysis of the Group’s operating costs is as follows:

2022123 2021722
£m £m

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense! 229.0 146.6
Employee benefit expense” (Note 7) 7828 6774
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 16.5 209
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment and investment property (Note 13) 163.2 157.9
Depreciation —right-of-use-assets (Note 21) 165.8 118 1
Utilitics 117.2 878
Rates 125.0 712
Other site property costs 384.3 2773
Variable lease payment expense (Note 21) 2.1 03
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss 2.1y 21
Other operating charges? 105.2 80.0
Adjusting operating costs® (Note 6) 43,2 (65.3)

2,132.2 1,604.3
! Cost of inventories recognised as an expense inchudes £6.7m (2021/22 £6.1m) of inventory write-downs recorded during the vear.
? Adjusting operating costs ingludes a charge tor net impairments of £33 4m (2021/22: credit of £36 2m), a charge of £9.8m (202122 credit of £28.8m) relating to other

operating charges and a charge of £0.5m (2021722 credit of £0 3m) relating to emplovee benefit expenses (see Note 7).

Fees paid to the Group's auditor during the year consisted of:

2022/23 202122

£m £m

Audit of the Group's financial statements 1.2 1.0
Audit of the Group’s subsidiaries 0.6 0.6
Total audit fees 18 1.6
Audit-related assurance 0.1 0.1
Other non-audit fees - -
Total non-audit fees 0.1 0.1
Included in other operating charges 1.9 1.7

The fecs above include all amounts paid to the Group’s auditor for the audit of Whitbread PLC and its subsidiaries as the amounts

are borne by Whitbread Group PLC.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
6. Adjusting items

As set out in the policy in Note 2. we use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures
inciude both statutory measures in accordance with IFRS and APMs which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we believe they provide both managemcnt and investors
with useful additional information about the financial performance of the Group’s businesses. Adjusted measures of profitability
represent the equivalent [IFRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider hinder the comparison of the financial
performance of the Group’s businesses either from one period to another or with other similar businesses.

202223 2021/22
£m £m
Adjusting items were as follows:
Other income:
VAT settlement’ - 87
Legal claim settlement® 4.7
Adjusting other income 4.7 87
Operating costs:
Net impairment (charges¥reversals — property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets’ (33.4) 36.2
UK restructuring? - 03
Net gains on disposals, property and other provisions® 4.0 288
Strategic IT progranune costs® (13.8) -
Adjusting operating costs (43.2) 65.3
Adjusting items before tax (38.5) 74.0
Tax on adfusting items (L.O) (11.4)
Impact of change in tax rates (9.9) (13.1}
Adjusting tax expense (10.9) (24.5)

! During 202 1/22, HMRC confirmed it would not appeal the ruling of the First Tier Tribunal in the case of Rank Group PLC that VAT was incorrectly applied
to revenues eamed from certain gaming machines from 2006 to 2013, The Group has submitted claims for the repayment of overpaid VAT amounting to
£8.7m which are substantially similar.

? During the vear. the Group received a settiement of £4.7m in relation to a legal claim made against a payment card scheme provider.

? During the year, the Group identified impairment indicators and indicators of impainment reversals relating (o assets held by the Group both at the half-year end
date and at the year-end date. An impairment review of those assets was undertaken, resulting in adjusting net impairment charges of £30.Lm. This is made up
of impairment charges on trading sites of £85 Om (£76.1m relating to property. plant and equipment and £8.9m relating to right-of-use assets} offset by
impairment reversals of £54.9m (£35.5m relating to property, plant and equipment and £19.4m relating to right-of-use assets). In addition, impairment charges
of £3.3m have been recorded in relation to assets held for sale during the year. This brings the total adjusting net impairment charges to £33.4m within
operating costs. Further information is provided in Note 14,

During 2021722, a total net impainment reversal of £42.0m was recorded, made up of £10.5m of impairment charges on trading sites (£10.Im relating to
property, plant and equipment and £0.4m relating to right-of-use assets), offset by impainment reversals of £52 5m (£30.4m relating to property, plant and
equipment and £22. I m relating (o right-of-use assets). In addition. an impairment charge of £5 8m was recorded in relation to assets classificd as held for sale.
This brings the total adjusting net impairment reversals to £36.2m within operating costs.

* During 2021/22. the Group released the remaining provision of £0.3m following the completion of its restructuring of the Support Centre and site operations
after it had recognised redundancy and project costs of £12. 1m during 2020/21.

3 Durtng the year, the Group entered into a sale and lease transaction of land and a hote! currently under construction. As a result of this transaction, the Group
received proceeds of £46 4m and recognised a net gain of £1 4m. The completed hotel and land will be leased back at practical completion to the Group. In
addition, the Group increased its property related provision by £0.4m and made a profit on other property disposals of £3.0m.

During 2021/22, the Group disposed of a single property as part of a sale and leascback transaction for gross proceeds of £40.06m. A profit on disposal of
£27.5m was recognised on disposal of the property. In addition, during 2021/22, the Group made a profit on other property disposals of £5.7m and recognised
other provisions of £4.4m relating to historic indirect tax matters.

% During the year, the Group has assessed the presentation of costs incurred in relation to the current and future strategic IT programme impiementations. The
programmes currently scheduled include the Group’s Hotel Management System and HR & Payroll System. These represent significant business change costs
for the Group rather than replacements of IT systems with Software as a Service (SaaS). The start date of these projects varies and as such we expect costs to be
incurred within this category over the next few financial years, with their strafegic benefit seen as lasting multipie years. At this time, the {roup expects to
incur costs relating to the Group’s Hotel Management Systern and HR & Payroll System presented within adjusting items across future financial years as
follows; during the financial vear ended 2024 between £15.0m and £25.0m, during the financial year ended 2025 between £15.0m and £25.0m and during the
financial year ended 2026 up to £5.0m.
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Notes to the consclidated financial statements (continued)

7. Employee benefits expense

202223 2021/22

£m £m

Wages and salaries 714.6 619.5
Social security costs 554 46.7
Pension costs 12.8 11.2
782.8 677.4

I he amounts above cxclude adjusting {tems. Wages and salaries excludes a charge of £0.5m this year relating to the Strategic IT
programme costs (2021/22: credit of £0.3m relating to the restructuring of Group’s operations),

Included in wages and salaries is a share-based payments expense of £17.9m (2021/22: £12.9m), which arises from transactions
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments.

Employee costs split between hourly paid and salaried employees 2“22';_'23 202 ”£22
m At}
Employee costs — hourly paid 520.1 440.3
Employee costs — salaried 265.7 2371
785.8 677.4
2022/23 2021/22
Average number of employees directly employed Number Number
UK & Ireland 37,865 33,546
Gennany 1,139 782
39,004 34,328

Employecs of joint ventures are excluded from the numbers above.

Directors” remuneration is disclosed below:

2022/23 202122
£m £fm
Directors’ remuneration 5.5 42
Aggregate contributions to the defined contribution pension scheme - -
1.2 1.7

Aggregate gains on the exercise of share options
The highest paid director received total remuneration of £2.5m (2021/22: £2.2m) including company contributions to a money

purchase pension scheme of £0.1m (2021/22: £0.2m). Aggregate gains on the excrcise of sharc options relating to the highest paid
director were £0.8m (2021/22: £0.4m).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8. Finance (costs)/income

2022/23 2021422
£m £m
Finance costs

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts (5.1} (1.4
Interest on other loans (24.3) (30.0)
Interest on lease liablities (Note 21) (138.7) (133.2)
Interest capitalised (Note 13) 25 09
Umwinding of discount on contingent consideration (Note 23) (0.2) (it 4d)
Impact of ineffcctive portion of cash flow and tair vatue hedges (Note 24) (1.1} (2.5)
Interest payable to parent company (38.1) (41 4}
(205.0) (215.0)

Finance income
Bank interest receivable 23.2 0.7
Other interest receivable - 02
IAS 19 pension finance income (Note 31) 13.6 36
36.8 4.5
Total net finance costs (168.2) {210.5)

Net finance costs includes £203.7m (2021/22: £211.1m) finance costs and £23.2m (2021/22: £0.9m) finance income in respect of
financial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

9. Government grants and assistance

During the year, the Group submitted its German Bridge Aid Il Plus and IV claims, for which it received net cash of £17.3m. These
amounts were recognised in the 2021/22 year for costs the Group incurred from July 2021 to January 2022 No further claims for
COVID-related Government support were made in the UK or in Germany. and hence the Group has not recognised any amounts for
COVID-related Government support during this financial year. A provision being held in relation to any potential repayments required
in respect of the interpretations and assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Corenavirus Job Retention Scheme claims was released
during FY23 as management is satisfied that no repayments are required following completion of an HMRC review. This has resulted
in a credit to the consolidated income statement of £4.7m as shown below.

During the previcus year, the Group had claimed Government support designed to mitigate the impact of COVID-19.
Grants recognised in the previous year and the provision released in the current year by type are shown below:

2022723 202122

£m £m

Release of provisions previously made relating to Government grant claims 4.7 -

UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme - 61.7

Ireland Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme - 0.2

Jersey Co-Funded Payroll Scheme - 0.1

UK Hospitality and Leisure Grant - 82

German Fixed Cost Grant - 433

Gemman Kurzarbeit Scheme — compensation for social secunity payments - 0.3

Included in other income 4.7 113.8
The Group benetited from the following schemes which led to savings in operating costs:

2022723 2021722

£m £m

German Kurzarbeit Scheme — employees support - 0.7

UK Business Ratc Relief - 56.3

Reduction in operating costs ~ 570
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10. Taxation

202223 2021/22
Cuonsulidaled incoie stalemeni £m £m
Current tax:

Current tax (credit)/expense 28.2 (7.6)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 0.7 0.1)
289 (7.7

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 51.6 17.5
Effect of in-year rate ditferential/change in tax rates 29 13.1
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (1.2} (162)
60.3 14.4
89.2 6.7

Tax reported in the consolidated income statement

In relation to the previous year. the adjustments in respect of previous periods arose mainly due to a reassessment of deferred tax on

property. plant and equipment.

2022/23 2021/22

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income £m fm
Current tax:

Defined benefit pension scheme 0.7) -
Deferred tax:

Cash flow hedges - 0.5

Tax ot net (loss)gain on hedge of a net investment 2.1) 0.8

Tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 4.0 (2.7)

Defined benefit pension scheme (54.7) 88.0
Tax reported in other comprehensive income (53.5) 86.6

A reconciliation of the tax expenses/(credit) applicable to adjusted profit/(loss) before tax and profit before tax at the statutory tax
rate, to the actual tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate. for the years ended 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022 respectively is
set out below. All items have been tax effected at the UK statutory rate of 19%. with the exception of the effect of unrecognised
losses in overseas companies, which has been tax effected at the statutory rate in the relevant jurisdictions with an adjustment to

account for the differential tax rates included in the effect of different tax rates.

2022/23 2021722
Tax on 202223 Tax on 2021/22
adjusted loss Tax on loss adusted loss Tax on loss
£m £m £m £m
Profit/(loss) before tax as reported in the consolidated income statement 376.8 338.3 (55.7) I83
Tax at current UK tax rate of 19.00% (2021/22: 19.00%) 71.6 64.3 (£0.6) 35
Effect of different tax rates (7.5) (11.5) (3.8) 3.8
Unrecognised losses in overseas companies 19.5 29.4 tE8 I1.8
Effect of super deduction in respect of tax relief for fixed assets “+.5) (4.5} 2.7 2.7
Expenditure not aflowable 24 14 3.5 29
Adjustments to current tax expense in respect of previous years 0.7 0.7 (0.1) (0.1}
Adjustments to deferred tax expense in respect of previous years (1.2) (1.2} (16.2) (16.2)
Impact of deferred tax in respect of sale and lease transaction (Nete 6) - 34 - -
Impact of deferred tax being at a different rate from current tax rate - 9.9 - 13.1
Gther movements 2.7 (2.7) (1.7 (1.8)
Tax expense/(credit) reported in the consolidated income statement 78.3 89,2 (17.8) 6.7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
10. Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax
The major categories of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group and movements during the current and prior
financtial years are as follows:

Rolled over

Accelerated gains and

Capital property
Allowances valuations Pensions Leases Losses Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2021 (42.9) (37.8) (62.3) 36.6 79.4 02 (47.0)
{Charge Yeredit to consolidated income statement (29.6) (34.7) (15.4) 12.0 579 4.6) (14.4)
Charge to statement of comprehensive income - - (88.0) - 20 (0.6) (86.6)
Charge to statement of changes in equity — — - — — (0.3) 0.3)
Foreign exchange and other movements - - ~ — - (2.5) (2.5}
At 3 March 2022 (72.5} (92.5) (165.9) 18.6 139.3 (7.8) (150.8)
(Charge)/credit to consolidated income statement (14.6) (2.1) (3.2) (3.3) (40.0) 4.9 (60.3)
Charge to statement of comprehensive income — - 54.7 - 2.0) - 52.7
Charge to statement of changes in equity — - - - — 0.1 0.1
Foreign exchange and other movements — 0.8 - (1.1) - 0.2 0.1
At 2 March 2023 87.1) (93.8) (116.4) 44.2 97.3 (2.6) (158.4)

The Group recognises UK deferred tax assets to the extent that taxable profits will be available to utilise deductible temporary
differences or unused tax losses. At 2 March 2023, no UK. deferred asset is unrecognised (2022: £nil).

The Group has unrecognised German tax losses of £199.9m (2022: £128.2m) which can be carried forward indefinitely and offset
against future taxable profits in the same tax group. The Group carries out an assessment of the recoverability of these losses for each
reporting period and, to the extent that they exceed deferred tax liabilities within the same tax group, does not deem it is appropriate
at this stage to recognisc any deferred tax asset. Recognition of these asscts in their entirety would result in an increase in the
reported deferred tax asset of £63.8m (2022: £40.9m).

At 2 March 2023. no deferred asset is recognised (2022; £nil) on gross temporary differences of £11.1m (2022: £13.9m) relating to
the accumulated losses of other international subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these
tempaorary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foresceable future.

Tax relief on total interest capitalised amounts to £0.5m (2021/22: £0.2m).

Factors affecting the tax charge for future years

The UK Budget 2021 announcement on 3 March 2021 included an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to 25%, effective
from 1 April 2023. This was substantively enacted in May 2021 and remains the posilion al the signing of these financial statements,
As such, the Group continues to estimate that all UK deferred tax balances expected to be utilised or crystallise after 1 April 2023
should be recognised at the rate of 25%.
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Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

2022/23 2022/23 2021722 2021/22
Pence per share £m Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - - - _
12. Intangible assets
I'T software and
Goodwill technology Total
Em £ £
Cost
At 25 February 2021 350.1 110.0 460.1
Additions - 211 21.1
Assets written oft - (10.8) (10.8)
Foreign currency adjustment - (0.1) O 1)
At 3 March 2022 350.1 120.2 470.3
Additions - 36.8 36.8
Assets wititen off - (10.5) {10.5;
Foreign currency adjustment - 0.2 0.2
At 2 March 2023 350.1 146.7 496.8
Amortisation and impairment
At 25 Febrary 2021 (239.6) (61.4) (301.0)
Amortisation during the year - (20.9) (20.9)
Impaimment during the year - 10.8 10.8
Amortisation on assets written off - 0.1 0.1
Af 3 March 2022 (239.6) (71.4} (311.0)
Amortisation during the year - (16.5) (16.5)
Amortisation on assets written oft - 10.5 10.5
Foreign currency adjustment - (0.2} .2)
At 2 March 2023 {239.6) {77.6) 317.2)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 110.5 69.1 179.6
Net book value at 3 March 2022 110.5 48.8 1593

Other than goodwill, there are no intangible assets with indefinite lives. I'T software and technology assets have been assessed as
having finite lives and are amortiscd under the straight-line method over periods ranging from three to ten years from the date the

asset became fully operational.

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.7m (2022: £7 3m).



Notes to the consclidated financial statements (continued)

Whitbread Group PLC

13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property

Fotal
property,
Land and Plant and plant and Investment
huildings equip t quipment property Total
£m £m £m im £m
~Cost

At 25 February 2021 3.640.6 1.517.6 5,158.2 21.8 5,180,0
Additions 92,0 128.0 2200 - 220.0
Interest capitalised 0.9 - 0.9 - 0.9
Net movements to assets held for sale in the year (62.2) (4.5) (66.7) - (66.7}
Disposals (8.8) - (8.8) - 8.8
Assets written off 4.1 (57.9) (62.0) - (62.0)
Transfers 214 - 21.4 (21.4) -
Foreign currency translation (17.8) (2.5) (20.3) 0.4 (20.7)
At 3 March 2022 3.062.0 L.580.7 5,242.7 - 5.242.7
Additions 295.7 208.4 504.1 - 504.1
Interest capitalised 25 - 25 - 25
Net movements from assets held for sale in the year 6.1 38 9.9 - 99
Disposals (7.0) 2.9) (9.0} - 9.0)
Assets written off 3.9} (73.7) (77.6) - (77.6)
Asset reclassified from right-of-use asset 3.3 - (3.3) - (3.3}
Foreign currency translation 30.4 4.5 349 - 349
At 2 March 2023 39825 1,721.7 571042 N 5.704.2

" Depreciation and impairment
Al 25 February 2021 {287.3) (657.8) (945.1} (02) (945.3)
Depreciation charge for the year (22.9) (135.0) (1579 - (157.9)
Net impairment reversal/(charge) (Note 14) 16.9 (2.4) 14.5 - 145
Net movements to assets held for sale in the year 73 24 9.7 - 97
Disposais 0.6 - 06 - 0.6
Depreciation on assets written oft 4.1 579 62.0 - 62.0
Transfers 0.2) - 0.2y 02 -
Foreign currency translation 0.1 0.7 0.8 - 08
At 3 March 2022 (281.9) (734.2) (1,015.5) - (1,015.6)
Depreciation charge for the year (23.5) (139.73 (163.2) - {163.2)
Net impairment charge (Note 14) 26.4) (15.5) (419) - (41.9)
Net movements to assets held for sale in the year (6.1) (1.8) (7.9) - {7.9)
Disposals 22 290 42 - 4.2
Depreciation on assets written off 39 72.1 76.0 - 76.0
Foreign currency translation (0.4) 1.2) {L.6) - (1.6)
At 2 March 2023 331.7) (818.3) (1,150.0) - (1,150.0)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 3,650.8 963.4 4,554.2 - 4,554.2
Net book value at 2 March 2022 3,380.6 846.5 4.227.1 - 42271

Included above are assets under construction of £426.9m (2(22: £260.5m).

There is a charge in favour of the pension scheme over properties with a market value of £531.5m (2022: £531.5m). See Note 31

for further information.

Amounts relating to right-of-use assets under [FRS 16 are detailed in Note 21.

Investment property

During 2019/20, the Group acquired a frechold site which was leased to a third party and was recorded within investment

property. The Group recognised rental income of £nil (2021/22: £0.2m) within other income and £ril (2021/22: £0.1m) of direct
operating expenses in relation to this property. During 2021/22, the property was transferred to property. plant and equipment as
the lease ended and the Group took over the operations of the hotel.
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13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property (continued)

Capital expenditure commitments

2023 2022
£m £fm
Capital expenditure commitments for preperty, plant and equipment for which no provision has been made 125.4 1064

Capitalised interest
Interest capitalised during the vear amounted to £2.5m, using an average rate of 2.5% (2021/22: £0.9m, using an average rate of

2.7%).

Assets held for sale

During the year, eight property assets with a combined net book value of £5.2m (2021/22: four at £37 0m) were transferred to assets
held for sale. Seven property assets with a combined net book valuc of £7.9m were transferred back to property. piant and equipment
(2021/22: no properties). Seven property assets sold during the year had a net book value of £57.5m (2021/22: scven at £11.2m}). An
impairment loss of £1.4m {2021/22: £nil) was recognised relating to assets classified as held for sale. By the year-end, there were
five sites with a combined net book value of £3.2m (2022: eleven at £64.8m) classified as assets held for sale. There are no gains or
losses recognised in other comprehensive income with respect to these assets. Sites are classified as held for sale only if they are
available for immediate sale in their present condition and a salc is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year
from the date of classification. If the site does not meet these criteria. it is subsequently transferred back to property, plant and
equipment,

Included within assets held lor sale are assets which were written down to fair value less costs to sell of £1.5m (2022: £15.4m). The
fair value of property assets was determined based on current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such
information is not available, management considers information from a variety of sources including current prices for properties of a
different nature or recent prices of similar properties, adjusted to reflect those differences. This is a level 3 measurement as per the
fair value hierarchy set out in Note 24. The key inpuls under this approach are the property size and location.

14. Impairment

During the year, net impairment charges of £33.4m (2021/22: net impairment reversals of £36.2m) were recognised within operating
costs. The increase in market interest rates has driven higher discount rates and has increased impairments in the UK and Germany,
Gross impairment charges in the UK of £45.6m, impacted 13 standalone restaurants and those sites where F&B revenues represent a
more significant proportion of total sales, The WACC increase resulted in further impairment charges of £8.6m which was offset by
impairment reversals of £54.9m as the Group recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic and sites returned to a more normal level of
trading. This resulted in a total net impairment reversal of £0.7m being recorded in the UK. In Germany, the pace of expansion and a
number of portfoiio acquisitions where there is a distribution of performance, which when combined with an increase in market
discount rates, has resulted in a £30.8m impairment charge. In addition, impairment charges of £3.3m (2021/22: impairment charges
of £5.8m) have been recorded in relation to assets held for sale during the year. The charges/{reversals) were recognised on the
following classes of assets:

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m

impairment losses
Property, plant and equipment — impairment charges 76.1 10.1
Property, plant and equipment — impairment reversals (35.5) (30.4)
Property, plant and equipment - transfer to assets held for sale 1.3 58
Right-of-use assets — impairment charges 8.9 0.4
Right-of-use assets — impairment reversals 19.4) 22.1)
Assets held for sale 2.0 -
334 (36.2}

All of the impairment assessments take account of expected market conditions which include future risks including climate change
and climate change related legislation.
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14. Impairment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets — impairment review

Where indicators of impairment are identified. an impairment assessment is undertaken. The Group considers each trading site to
be a CGU. A trading site will offer a combination of accommodation and food and beverage services. Some trading sites provide
food and beverage services only. In assessing whether an asset has been impaired, the carrying amount of the CGU is compared
with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its value in use (VIU) and its fair value less costs of disposal
(FVLCD).

The Group calculates a VIU for each site. Where the VIU is lower than the carrying value of the CGU, the Group uses a range of
methods for estimating the FVL.CD. These include applying a market multiple to the CGU EBITDAR and. for icasehold sites,
present value techniques using a discounted cash flow method. Both FVLCD methods rely on fnputs not normally observable by
market participants and are therefore level 3 measurements in the fair value hicrarchy.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating value in use were:

Discount rates

The discount rate is based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of a typical market participant, taking into account
specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The discount rate has increased. reflecting market volatility in the
spot risk-free raie and equity risk premium inputs used in the Group’s WACC calculation.

2022/23 2021/22
LK Germany UK Gennany
Average pre-tax discount rate 11.1% 9.9% 8.7% 7.3%
Average post-tax discount rate 8.9% T5% T0% 5.6%

Approved budger period
Forecast cash flows for the initial five-year period are based on actual cash flows for FY23 and applying management’s
assumptions of the performance of the Group over the next five yeats.

The key assumptions used by management in setting the Board approved financial budgets for the initial five-year period were as
follows:

» Forecast period cash flows: The initial five-year period’s cash flows are drawn from the five-year business plan.
which is based on results from FY23.

+ Forecast growth rates: Forecast growth rates ar¢ based on the Group business plan, which includes assumptions
around the UK and German ¢conomies over the next five years.

» Operating profits are forecast based on historical experience of operating margins, adjusted for the impact of
inflation and cost-saving initiatives.

» Local factors impacting the site in the current year or expected to impact the site in future years. Key assumptions include
the maturity profile of individual sites, the future potential of immature sites and the impact of increasing or reducing
market supply in the local area.

Long-term growth rafes

A long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) was used for cash {lows subsequent to the five-vear approved budget/plan period.
This long-term growth rate is a conservaltive rate and is considered to be lower than the long-term historical growth rates of the
underlying territories in which the CGUs operate and the long-term growth rate prospects of the sectors in which the CGUs
operate.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FVLCD werec:

EBITDAR muitiple
An EBITDAR multiple is estimated based on a normalised trading basis and market data obtained from external sources. This
resulted in a multiple in the range of 7 to 11 times.

Discounted cash flows

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FVLCD on a discounted cash tfiow method were similar to those
used in the value in use assessment. moditied 1o reflect estimated cost of disposal and lease payments. The inclusion of lease
payments is reflected in the discount rate. increasing WACC for the specific asset class from 11.1% to 12.3% in the UK and

from 9.9% to 11.0% in Germany.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The level of impairment is predominantly dependent upon judgements used in arriving at future growth rates and the discount rates
applied to cash tlow projections. The impact on the impairment charge of applying a reasonably possible change in assumptions to
the growth rates used in the five-year business plan, long-lterm growth rates, pre-tax discount rates and EBITDAR multiple would be
an incremental impairment charge/(reversal} in the year to 2 March 2023 of:

Total
£m

Incremental impairment charge/(reversal)
Increase to impairment charge/(reversal) if year one’s cash flows reduced by 10% 2.0
Increase to impairment charge/(reversal) if discount rate increased by 2.0% 145
Increase to impairment charge/{reversal) if tong-term growth rates reduced by 1% 9.0
Increase to impairment charge/(reversaly if EBITDAR multiple reduced by 10% 14.1
Decrease to impainment charge/{reversal) if year one’s cash flows increased by 10% (2.9}
Decrease to impaimment charge/(reversal) if discount rates decreased by 2% (29.3)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumptien whilst bolding all other assumptions constant. In practice. this
is unlikely to occur and ¢changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

The impairment sensitivities above show the downside risk from a reasonable possible change in the modelled assumptions and are
in line with disclosure requirements.

Goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to groups of CGUs at an operating segment level. being the levelat
which management monitors goodwill. All of the Group’s goodwill is allocated to the UK and Ireland segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use using the same assumptions as those used in
the site level impairment reviews. The recoverable amount has been determined from value in use calculations. The future cash flows
arc based on assumptions from the approved budget and cover a five-year period. These forecasts include management’s most recent
view of medium-term trading prospects. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) growth rate. The

pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 11.1% for the UK (2022: 8.7%).

As aresult of the German goodwill being impaired in previous years and the level of headroom within the UK segment. there is no
reasonably possible change that could result in a further material impairment of goodwill.

Investments in joint ventures

Changes in consumer behaviour following the COVID-19 pandemic continue to have a significant impact on trading and future
forecasts for trading at one of the Group’s joint ventures. Additional loan funding of £1.5m has been provided to Healthy Retail
Limited in the year to 2 March 2023 and subsequently impaired. Seec Note 15.

Property, plant and equipment — assets held for sale

During the period. cight hotels were transferred to assets held for sale, resulting in an impairment charge of £1.3m (2021/22: four
hotels resulting in an impairment charge of £5.8m). In addition, during 2022/23, an impairment charge of £2.0m (2021/22: £nil) was
recorded in refation to assets which had previously been classified as held for sale as a result of a reduction in expected sales
proceeds.
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Premier Inn Hotels LLC
The Group holds a 49% interest in Premier Inn Hotels LLC, a joint venture which operates Premier Inn branded hotels in the
United Arab Emirates. The investment forms part of the Group’s international growth strategy.

Premier Inn Hotels L1.C holds a 49% investment in Premier Inn Qatar Limited. During the year. the Group subscribed for share
capitai of £nil (2021/22: £1.4m).

Healthy Retail Limited

The Group holds a 49% interest in Healthy Retail Limited. a joint venture which operates a chain of 19 stores in London trading as
‘Pure’, that specialises in fresh. natural healthy meals. Changes in consumer behaviour following the COVID-19 pandemic continue
to have a significant impact on the company’s trading and on 7 October 2020 Healthy Retail L.imited entered into a Creditor™s
Voluntary Agreement (CVA). Pure has also obtained a Coronavirus Business Interruption l.oan Scheme facility from I.lovds which
is in priority to the Group’s security over loans advanced 1o the joint venturc. The Group has impaired its invesiments and loans
made to Healthy Retail Limited in full, resulting in a charge of £1.5m (2021/22: £1.8m).

The Group has an option to purchase the remaining 51% interest which expires on 30 June 2024. The Group continues to account for
the investment as a joint venture on the basis that the majority sharcholders have an equal representation on the investec™s board of
dircctors, which has control over the relevant activities of the business, and the potential voting rights under the option to purchase
are not considered to be substaative.

Premier Inn Kier Limited
The Group holds a 50% investment in this dormant UK entity.

Movement in investment in joint ventures

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening investment in joint ventures 41.1 373
Share of profit for the year 23 04
Foreign exchange movements 4.8 2.0
Loans advanced 1.5 1.8
Impairmenit! (1.5) (1.8)
Capital contribution - 1.4
Closing investment in joint ventures 48.2 41.1

'Includes an impainment of loans advanced 1o joint ventures of £1.5m (2021/22: £1.8m) determined under IFRS 9.
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Summary of joint ventures’ balance sheets

2023 2022
Premier Inn  Healthy Retail Premuer [nn Healthy Retail
Hotels LLC Limited Total  Hotels LLC Limited Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Current assets 15.6 1.9 17.5 9.1 2.0 11.1
Non-current assets 154.1 16.1 i7G.2 i412 20.2 teld
Current liabilities (16.0) (18,3} (34.3) (1v.4) (15.9} {26.3)
Non-current liabititics (55.2) 13.2) {68.4) (56.00 (6.1} (72.1)
Net assets 98.5 (13.5) 85.0 339 (9.8} 741
Group's share of interest in joint ventures” net assets 482 (6.6) 41.6 41 (4.9} 36.2
Premium paid on acquisition - 4.5 4.5 - 4.5 45
Loans to joint ventures - 9.0 9.0 - 7.5 7.5
Accumulated impairment - 6.9} (6.9) - (71) (7.1)
Group’s carrying amount of the investment 48.2 - 48.2 4).1 - 41.1
Within gross balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents 12.5 0.9 134 6.9 1.6 85
Current financial liabilities (7.5) (14,9) (22.4) (46) (13.1) (17.7)
Naon-current financial liabilities (55.2) 13.2) (68.4) {(56.0) (16.1) (72.1)
Summary of joint ventures’ income statement
2023 2022
Premier Inn  Healthy Retail Premier Inn Healthy Retait
Hotels 1.1.C Limited Total Hotelst [C Limited Total
£m £m im £m £m £m

Revenue 28.6 209 49.5 18.2 11.8 30,0
Other income - - - - 0.3 3
Depreciation and amortisation (4.8) (4.8) (9.0) 4.6) (42) (8.8)
Other operating costs (16.2) {19.0y (35.2) (109) (10.5) {21.4)
Finance costs 2.9) (1.5) (4.4) (2.0 (13) (3.3
Profit/(Joss) before tax 4.7 (4.4) 03 0.7 (3.9 (3.2)
[ncome tay ~ - - - - -
Profit/(loss) after tax 4.7 1.4) 03 0.7 (39) (3.2)
Group share;
Profit after tax! 23 - 2.3 04 - 04

! The Greup share of loss after tax of | fealthy Retail Limited has been recognised onby to the extent that its share of losses equals its interest in the joint venture,

following the impainment recorded during the prior year.

At 2 March 2023, the Group’s share of the capital commitments of its joint ventures amounted to £0.1m (2022: £0.1m).
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16. Inventories

2023 2022
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 15.5 13.0
Consumables 6.2 4.4
217 19.4

The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £3.2m (2022: £2.5m).

17. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022
£m £m
Trade receivables 46.0 455
Prepayvments and accrued income 498 242
Other receivables 46.0 46.7
141.8 116.4

Trade and other recejvables are non-interest bearing and arc generally on 30-day terms. Trade reccivables includes £45.1m (2022:
£44.2m) relating to contracts with customers.

The allowance for expected credit loss relating to trade and other receivables at 2 March 2023 was £1.7m (2022: £2.0m). During the
year, credit losses of £1.2m (2021/22: £2.7m) were recognised within operating costs in the consolidated income statement.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 60.2 435
Money market funds 769.6 7573
Short term deposits 3350 3316
1,164.8 11324

Short-term deposits are made tor varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group. They earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

The Group does not have material cash balances which are subject to contractual or regulatory restrictions,
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the amounts as disclosed above.

19. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Group’s borrowing lacilities are as follows:

Current Non-current
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m
Revolving credit factiity - - Z _
Senior unsecured bonds - - 934 991.9
- - 993.4 9919

Revolving credit facility and covenant

The revelving credit facility. which at 3 March 2022 was £850.0m, was replaced on 25 May 2022 with a new five-year £775.0m
multi-currency revolving credit facility agreement. The new revelving credit facility agreemcent contains one financial covenant ratio,
being net debt/adjusted EBITDA <3.5x.

At 2 March 2023. the Group had available £775.0m (2022: £850.0m) of undrawn commitied borrowing facilities in respect of
revolving credit facilities on which all conditions precedent had been met.
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Senior unsecured bonds

The Group has issued senior unsecured bonds with coupons and maturities as shown in the following table:

Title Year 1ssued Principal valug Maturity Coupon

2025 senior unsecured bonds 2015 £450 (n 16 October 2025 3.375%
2027 semior unsecured green use of proceeds bond 2021 £300 0m 31 May 2027 2375%
2031 semier unsecured green use of proceeds bond 2021 £250.0m 31 May 2031 3 000%

Amortised arrangement fees of £2.6m (2022 £3.4m) incurred in refation to the bonds are included in the carrying value and are
being amortised over the term of the bonds. The bonds contain au wauly prepayment option wluch meets the definition of an

embedded derivative.

20. Movements in cash and net debt

Fair value  Amortisation of
3 March Net new lease Foreign adjustments  premiums and 2 March
2022 Cash flow liabilities exchange te loans discounts 2023
Year ended 2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 1,132.4 30.5 - L9 - - 1,164.8
Liabilities from financing activities:
Borrawings 9919 - - - - {1.5) {993.4)
Lease liabilities (3,701.8) 133.9 (346.1) #14) - - (3,958.4)
Total Eabilities from financing (4,693.7) 133.9 (346.1) (44.4) - (1.5) {4,951.8)
activities
Less: lease liabilities 3,701.8 {133.9 346.1 44.4 - - 3,958.4
Net cash 1405 305 - 1.9 - (1.5} 17114
Fair value  Amortisation of
25 February et new lease Foreign adjustments  premiums and 3 March
2001 Cash flow liabilities exchange to loans discounts 2022
Year ended 3 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 1,256.0 (123.0) - (0.6) - - 1,132.4
Liabilities from financing activities:
Borrowings (1,302.3) 3039 - 8.1 - (14) (951.9)
Lease liabilities {3.231.6) 127.1 (619.4) 22.1 - - (3.701.8)
Derivatives held to hedge 5.8 - - - (5.8) - -
financing activities
Total liabilities from financing (3.5283) 431.0 (6194} 302 (58) (1.4) (4,693 7)
activities
Less: lease liabilities 3.231.6 (127.1) 619.4 (22.1) “ 3,701.8
Less. derivatives held to hedge financing (5.8) - - - 58 - -
activities
Net {debt)/cash (46.5) 180.9 - 75 - (L4 140.5
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21. Lease arrangements

The Group leases various buildings which are used within the Premier Inn business. The lcases are non-cancellable leases with
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights, and include variable payments that are not fixed in amouni but based upon a
pereentage of sales. The Group also leases various plant and equipment under non-canceilable lease agreements.

An analysis of the Group’s right-of-use asset and lease Hability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

Total right-of-use Tnvestment
Property Other assels pro perty' Total
£m £im £m £m £m
At 25 February 202] 2,736.7 1.7 2,738.4 65.0 2.803.4
Additions 6129 0.8 613.7 - 613.7
Net Impairment reversal (Note 14) 217 - 217 - 217
Foreign currency translation (229) - (229) - (22.9)
Depreciation (144.0) a.iy (145 13 (3.0} (14811
Terminations (02) - (0.2) - 0.2)
Transiers 62.0 - 62.0 {62.0) -
At 3 March 2022 3,266.2 1.4 3,267.6 - 3,267.6
Additions 368.8 1.2 3700 - 3700
Net Impairment reversal (Note 14) 10.5 - 10.5 - 10.5
Foreign curency translation 454 - 434 - 45.4
Depreciation {164.8) (1.0) (165.8) - (165.8)
Terminations (1.2) - (L.2) - (L.2)
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment® (21.9) - {21.9 - (21.9)
At 2 March 2023 3,503.0 1.6 3,504.6 - 3,504.6

Lease liability

that _h}gsg lnvesrmens ol
l’rnpem Oﬂil‘.frru lmhlht{:: proper’gf_n T og“
At 25 February 2021 3.164.2 1.4 3.165.6 66.0 32316
Additions 618.8 038 619.6 - 619.6
Interest 132.0 0.1 132.1 1.1 1332
Foreign currency transtation (22.1) - (22 1) - (22.1)
Payments (2559 {08 (256.7) 36) (260.3y
Terminations (0.2 - {0.2) - (02)
Transfers 635 - 63.5 63.5) -
At 3 March 2022 3,700.3 i.5 3,701.8 - 3,701.8
Additions 371.6 12 3728 - 3728
Interest 138.7 - 138.7 - 138.7
Foreign currency translation 44.4 - 444 - 444
Payments (271.3) (L3) (272.6) - (272.6}
Terminations (1.5) - (L.5) - .5
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment? (25.2) - (25.2) - (25.2)
At 2 March 2023 3957.0 1.4 3,958.4 - 39584

| During 2020/21. the Group acquired a leasehold site which was sub-leased to a third party and recorded within investment property. During 2021/22, the property
was transferred to right-of-use assets for property. plant and equipment as the sub-lease ended and the Group took over the operations of the hotel.

2 During the year. the Group acquired a property over which it had previously held a leasehold interest.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £292.0m (2021/22: £583.3m)
relating to new leases and £80.8m (2021/22: £34.3m) relating to amendments to existing leases. The Group recognised net
lease incentives of £2.8m (2021/22: £2.0m) on entering new and amended leases.

A maturity analysis of gross lease liability payments is included within Note 23.
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21. Lease arrangements (continued)
Amounts recognised in the Group income statement

2022/23 2021/22

£m £m

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 165.8 148.1
interest expense on lease liabilities 138.7 1332
Expense relating to fow-value assets and short-term leases - -
Variable [ease payment expenses 2.1 0.3
Impairment reversals of right-of-use assets {Note 14} {10.5) (217
Lease income 3.0 (79
293.0 2520

Amounts recognised in the Group cash flow statement
The Group’s total cash outflow in relation to leases was £277.4m {2021/22: £260.6m).

Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. Set out below are the undiscounted future rental
payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the leasc liability.

2022/23 2021422

£m £m

Extension options expected not to be exercised 1,246.4 906.6
Termination options expecied (o be exercised - B
1.246.4 906.6

The Group uses judgement in determining whether termination and cxtension option periods will be included within the lease term. The
Group assumes that, unless a decision has been made to exit a lease, termination options will not be exercised as a result of historic
practices within the Group. At the ousset of a lease, the Group assumes that it wiil not exercise extension options. Due to the length of
the Group’s leascs. there is generally insufficient evidence that exercising an extension option is certain.

Future increases or decreases in rentals linked to an index or rate are not included in the lease liability until the change in cash tflows
takes effect. Approximately 76% of the Group's lease liabilities are subject to inflation-linked rentals (with 76% of these leases
containing caps) and a further 10% which are subject to rent reviews. Rental changes linked to inflation or rent reviews typically
occur on an annual or five-yearly basis.

As at 2 March 2023, the Group was committed to leases with future cash outflows totalling £1.799.7m {2022: £2,106.7m) which had not
vet commenced and as such are not accounted for as a liability. A liability and corresponding right-of-use asset will be recognised for
these leases at the lease commencement date.

The Group as a lessor

The Group acts as a lessor in relation to a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was £2.4m (2021/22: £7.9m). Future minimum rentals receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases at the year-end are as follows:

202223 2021/22

£m £m

Within ong year 24 29
After one year but not more than five years 6.0 52
More than five vears 83 64
16.7 14.5
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Onerous Property Insurance Government
Restructuring contracts costs Claims Payments Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2021 11 1.1 157 72 36 1.8 395
Created 04 09 - 3.0 11.8 - 16.1
Utilised (0.8) 5.3 (9.1) (2.0 39 - @2Lm
Released (0.3) ©.7) - - @n - (3.3)
At 3 March 2022 0.4 5.0 6.6 82 93 18 3.3
Created - 20 - 2.8 - 0.8 5.0
Transferred - - - - 23 - 23
Utifised - 1.4y (1.0) (2.3} 0.1) 0.1y (4.9)
Released {0.4) 0.9 - - 4.7 - (6.0)
Foreign exchange - - - - 0.2 - 0.2
At 2 March 2023 - 4.7 5.6 8.7 70 25 28.5
Analysed as:
Current - 4.7 56 0.4 7.0 25 20.2
Non-current - - - 83 - - 8.3
At 2 March 2023 - 4.7 5.6 87 7.0 25 285
Analysed as:
Current 04 25 52 04 9.3 18 196
Non-current - 25 14 78 - - 1.7
At 2 March 2022 04 3.0 &6 §2 93 18 313
Restructuring

A provision of £0.4m was brought forward in relation to the restructure of the Group's Support Centre and site operations,
During the year. the Group released the remaining provision to the income statement.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract provisions relate primarily to property. software licences and supplier contracts where the contracts havebecome
onerous. Provision is made for property-related costs for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is

not possible.

Onerous contract provisions are discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) based on an approximation for the time value
of money.

Property-related

The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Group utilises the skills and expertise of both internal and
external property experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to 12 years and
£0.2m has been utilised in the year.

Software

Certain software licence agreements were deemed to be onereus when. following the disposal of Costa. it was no longer beneficial to
the Group to use the software. In addition. a provision was created in FY20 as a result of the cancellation of a contract relating to the
supply of IT equipment. A provision of £0.8m was brought forward in relation to these contracts. During the yeat. the Group utilised
£0.3m (2022: £0.4m) of this provision, with the provision carried forward to be utilised over a two-year period. The software
intangible assets associated with these contracts have been fully impaired in previous financial years.

Supplier contracts

Certain supplier contract arrangements were deemed to be onerous where. as a result of the reduced trading brought on by the COVID-
19 pandemic restrictions, minimum order commitments were not going to be met. A provision of £1.1m was brought forward in
relation 1o these contracts, During the vear, the Group utilised £0.9m of the provision and created a further £0.2m of provision.
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Property costs
From FY 18 to FY20. the Group established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding material at a small
number of the Group’s sites. As a result, a provision of £6.6m is brought forward in relation to these costs. During the year, £1.0m of
the provision has been utilised. All of the remaining provision is expected to be utilised within one year.

Insurance

A provision of £8.2m was brought forward in relation to the estimate of the cost of future claims against the Group from employees
and the public. The claims covered typically relate to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread's sites. During the year, further
provigions of £2.8m were ereated and £2.3m of the provision was utlised.

Government payments

The Group has made various claims for Government support which are subject to review by the relevant agencies. The provision
recognised represented the Group’s best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submitted claims, and for
potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £9.3m was brought forward in relation to these claims. During the year.
on confirmation of receipt for granis recognised in the previous financial year for costs related to that year the accrued provision
against the other receivable of £2.3m was transferred into provisions, £0.1m of the provision was utilised with £4.7m of the provision
released. Due to the complex nature and fast pace of changes in the rules around certain Government payments. the Group has
always endeaveured to apply and adhere to the rules in place. In certain areas where a rule interpretation was required, the Group has
claimed in accordance with its assumptions. Subsequent third-party review had highlighted that an alternative assumption could be
formed and. on the basis of a probahle outflow. a provision based on that approach has been made. As disclosed within Note 9.
during the year, a provision being held in relation to any potential repayments required in respect of the interpretations and
assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme claims was released as management is satistied that no
repayments are required following an HMRC review.

Other

In July 2016, the Group announced its intention to exit hotel operations in South East Asia. This resulted in the recognition
of a provision of £3.7m for risks arising from tax ailairs and indemnity agreements. At 2 March 2023, £0.1m of the provision
had been utilised in the year, with £1.7m of the provision still held for risks arising from indemnity agreements. The remaining
costs are expected to be utilised within one year.

The Group operates leases where it ncither anticipates nor intends exiting a lease, therefore the Group has determined
that the circumstances in which these leases would end mean that an outflow of resources is not considered probable and
therefore it does not hold a material dilapidations provision.

23. Financial risk management and objectives

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans. senior unsecured bonds. cash, short-term
deposits, trade receivables and trade payables. The Group's financial instrumesnt policies can be forad in the accounting policies in
Note 2. The Board agrees policies for managing the financial risks summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations. Interest
rate swaps are used where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this risk, in line with the
Group treasury policy, At the year-end. (100%) of Group debt was fixed for an average of 4.5 years at an average interest rate of
3.0% (2022: £991.9m (100%) for 5.5 years at 3.0%). The interest rate swaps for sterling expired in February 2022.

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, the Group has undertaken sensitivity analysis on its financial
instruments which are affected by changes in interest rates. This analysis has been prepared on the basis of a constant amount of
net debt, a constant ratio of fixed to floating interest rates. and on the basis of the hedging instruments in place at 2 March 2023
and 3 March 2022 respectively. Consequently. the analysis relates to the situation at those dates and is not representative of the
vears then ended. The following assumptions were made:

- balance sheet sensitivity to interest rates applies only to derivative financial instruments. as the carrying value of debt
anddeposits does not change as interest rates move; and

« gains or losses are recognised in ¢quity or the consolidated income statement in line with the Groups accounting policies.

Based on the Group’s nel debt/cash position at the year-end. a 1% pt change in interest rates would affect the Group’s profit
before tax by £11.6m (2021/22: £11.3m).
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Liquidity risk
In its funding strategy, the Group's objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding and {lexibility through
access to a revelving credit facility, additional uncommitted credit lines and the bond market. This sirategy inciudes monitoring the
maturity of its financial liabilities to avoid the risk of a shortage of funds.

Ixcess cash used in managing liquidity is placed on interest-bearing deposit where maturity is fixed at no more than three months.
Short-term flexibility is achieved through the use of short-term borrowing on the money markets.

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022 based on
contractual undiscounted payments, including interest:

Less than 3 3to12 More than Carrying
On demand months months 11to 5 years 5 years Total value
2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial assetsliabilities:
Interest-hearing loans and borrowings - 14.6 15.2 8243 2946 1,148.7 993.4
Lease liabilities* - 70.9 217.6 862.1 54373 6.587.9 3,958.4
Trade and other payables 1,175.4 198.9 - 38 - 1,378.1 1,378.1
1,175.4 284.4 232.8 1,690.2 5,731.9 9,114.7 6,329.9
Derivative financial assets/liabilities:
Cross-currency swaps
Derivative contracts — receipts - - {15.2) (480.4) - (495.6)
Derivative contracts - payments - - 9.8 481.7 - 491.5
- - (5.4} 1.3 - 4.1y
Total 1,175.4 284.4 2274 1,691.5 57319 9.110.6
Less than 3 3012 More than Carrying
On demand months months | to 5 years 3 years Total value
3 March 2022 £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Interest-bearing loang and borrowings - 19.0 15.2 554.1 594.6 11829 9919
Lease liabilities' - 673 206.5 L1165 49183 6.308.6 3.701.8
Trade and other payables 1,295.0 163.6 12.4 i2 - i,472.2 14719
1,295.0 249.9 2341 1.671.8 5,512.9 8,963.7 6,156.6
Derivative financial assets/liabilities:
Cross-currency swaps
Derivative contracts — receipts - - (13.2) {495.6) - (510.8)
Derivative contracts — payments - - 9.1 459.1 - 468.2
- - 6.1) (36.5) - {42.6)
Total 1,295.0 2499 228.0 16353 55129 8921.1

! Contractual undiscounted payments relating to lease liabilities due in more than 5 years includes £1.401.2m (2022: £1.324.5m) due between 5 and 10 years, £2,271 im
(2022: £1,925 3m) due between 10 and 20 years and £1,765 0m (2022: £1.668.5m) due in more than 20 vears.

Credit risk

Due to the high level of cash held at the year-end, the most significant credit risk faced by the Group is that arising on cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s exposure arises from default of the counterparty. with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
value of these instruments. The Group secks to minimise the risk of default in relation to cash and cash equivaients by spreading
investments across a number of counterparties and dealing in accordance with Group treasury policy which specifies acceptable
credit ratings and maximum investments for any counterparty.

In the event that any of the Group s banks get inio financial difficulty. the Group is exposed to the risk of withdrawal of currently
undrawn committed facilities. This risk is mitigated by the Group having arange of counterparties to its facilitics.

The Group is exposed to a small amount of credit risk attributable to its trade and other receivables. This is minimised by dealing with
counterparties with good credit ratings. The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of expected credit lesses, which have been
estimated by management based on prior experience and any known factors at the balance sheet date.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables, loans to joint ventures, derivatives and
cash and cash cquivalents is £1.256.7m (2022: £1.240.4m)}.

Foreign currency risk

The Group monitors the growth and risks associated with its overseas operations and will undertake hedging activities as and
when they are required. [n October 2019, the Group entered into a net investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in
the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group’s investment in its business in Germany. See Note 24 for more details.
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Capital management

The Group's primary objective in regard to capital management is to ensure that it continues to operate as a going concern and has
sufficient funds al its disposal to grow the business for the benefit of shareholders. The Group seeks to maintain a ratio of debt to
equity that balances risks and returns and also complies with lending covenants. See finance review within the preliminary resuits
announcement of Whitbread PLC for the policies and objectives of the Board regarding capital management, analysis of the
Group’s credit facilities and financing plans for the coming years.

The Group aims to maintain sufficient funds for working capital and fulure invesument in order o meel growth targets. The management
of equity through share buybacks and new issues is considered as part of the overall leverage framework balanced against the funding
requirements of future growth. In addition, the Greup may carry out a number of sale and leaseback transactions to provide further
funding for growth.

The revolying eredit facility, which at 3 March 2022 was £850.0m, was replaced on 25 May 2022 with a new 5 year £775.0m
multicurrency revolving credit facility agreement. The new revolving credit facility agreement contains one financial covenant ratio,

being: Net Debt/Adjusted EBITDA <3.5x.

The above matters are considered at regular intervals and form part of the business planning and budgeting processes. [n addition,
the Board regularly reviews the Group’s dividend policy and funding strategy.
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Amortised cost Fair value

Financial assets  Financial liabilities Hedging instruments Other Carrying valae

At 2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other receivables 92.0 - - - 2.0
Cash and cash equivalents 395.2 - - 769.6 1,164.8
Interest — bearing loans and borrowings - (993.4) - - (993.4)
Lease liabilities - (3,958.4) - - {3,958.4)
Derivative financial instruments - - (7.8) - (7.8)
‘Trade and other payables - (198.9) - - (198.9)
Contingent consideration - - - (3.8) (3.8)

Amortised cost Fair value

Financial assets Financial liabihities Hedging instruments Other  Carrying value

At 3 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other receivables 922 - - - 922
Cash and cash equivalents 375.1 - - 7573 11324
Interest — bearng loans and borrowings - (991 9) - - (991.9)
Lease liabilities (3,701.8) - - (3,701.8)
Perivative financial instruments - - 15.8 - 15.8
Trade and other payables (151.8) - - (151.8)
Contingent consideration - - - (25.1) (25.0}

Fair values

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by reference

to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. The classification uses the following three-level hierarchy:

*  Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
* Level 2 — other technigues for which all inputs, which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value, are

observable, either direcily or indirectly; and
*  Level 3 —techniques which use inputs. which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value, that are not basedon

observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis. the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting peried.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
The carrying value of trade and other receivables. cash and cash equivalents. and trade and other payabies are considered to

be reasonable approximations of their fair values largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair valuc of the Group's borrowings is estimated at £879.4m. The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is based on level |
valuation techniques where there is an active market for the instrument and on level 2 valuation techniques otherwise,
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments — level 2 - 158
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments — level 2 78 -
Contingent consideration — level 3 38 25.1

During the year ended 2 March 2023, there were no transfers between fair value measurement levels. Derivative financial
instruments include £nil assets (2022: £15.8m) and £7.8m liabilities (2022: £nil) due after one year. Deferred and contingent
consideration includes £3.8m (2022: £1.2m) due after one vear.

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as level 2 is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant
market discount rate at the balance sheet date. The fair value of money market funds within cash and cash cquivalents classified
as level | are calculated by reference to their active market value at 2 March 2023,

The fair value of contingent consideration relating to acquisitions is classiticd as level 3. Details of the valuation are included
in Note 25,

Derivative financial instruments

Cash flow hedges

Interest rare risk

The Group is exposed to commodity risk in the form of power requirements. The Group manages this risk through a combination of fixed
price agreements and hedging. During the year. the Group entered into power commodity price swaps to fix the price of 20% of forccast
usage within FY25.

Interest rate risk
The Group had interest rate swaps in piace which matured in February 2022 at the same point as the repayment of US
denominated debt.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations

In October 2019, the group entered into cross-currency swaps, whereby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and reccives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £450.0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group’s investment
in its business in Germany. The swaps mature in October 2025 in line with the bonds.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the net investment creates

a translation risk that will match the foreign exchange risk on the cross-currency swaps. The Group has established a hedge

ratio of 1:1 as the underlying risk of the hedging instrument is identical to the hedged risk component. The hedge ineffectiveness
will arise when the amount of the investment in the foreign subsidiary becomes lower thar the neminal amount of the swaps.

The net investment hedges were assessed to be highly effective at 2 March 2023 and a net unrealised gain of £24.7m (2022:
gain of £9. 0m) has been recorded in the translation reserve. The Group has recorded costs of hedging of £1.1m (2022: £2.5m)
within finance costs in the consolidated income statement as a result of the foreign currency basis spread within the hedging
instrument,
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The impact of the hedging instruments and hedged items on the statement of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair
value used for Change in
Lime item in measuring fair
National Carrying statement of  ineffectiveness value of
At 2 March 2023 amount amount Financial position for the year Hedgeditem  hedged item
£m £m £m £m
Net investment in foreign operations
o . Net investment
Derivative financial in foreign
Cross-currency swaps 450.0 (6 6) instruments (22.2) subsidianes 22
Cash flow hedges
o ) Highly probable
Derivative financial forecast future  N/A - future
Power commodity swap 102 (1.3) instraments 13 power usage usage
Change in fair
value used for Change in
Line item in measuring fair
Notional Carrying statement of  ineffectiveness value of
At 3 March 2022 amount amount Financial position for the year Hedged item hedged item
£m £m £m £m
Net investment in foreign operations
- . Net investment
Derivalive financial in foreign
Cross-currency swaps 4500 158 instruments 9.0 subsidiaries (9.0)

The impact of the hedging instruments in the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income 1s as folfows:

Amount reclassified
from OC1 to profit Accumulated value
Tofal hedging gain/(loss) or Linciteminthe  recognised in cash
recognised in OCI foss comsolidated income  flow hedge reserve
£m £m stat t £m
2022723
Power commodity swaps (1.3) - N/A - future usage (1.3)
202122
Interest rate swaps (G.2) 2.5 Finance costs -
CToss-CurTency swaps {8.0) 8.1 Finance costs -
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Impact of hedging on equity
Set out betow is the reconciliation of each component of equity and the analysis of other comprehensive income:

Cash flow hedge Foreign currency

reserve translation

£m reserve

£m

At 25 February 2021 {LY) 287
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income:

- Interest rate swaps (0.2}

- Cross-currency swaps (8.0) -
Reclassified to profit or loss as hedged ttem effects profit or loss

- Intercst ratc swaps 25 -

- Cross-currency swaps 8.1 -
Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - (16.0)
Fair value movement on derivatives designated as net investment hedges - 9.7
Deferred tax credit 0.5) 1.9
At 3 March 2022 - 243
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income:

- Power commodity swap 1.3) -
Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - 37.3
Fair value movement on derivatives designated as net investment hedges - {24.7)
Deferred tax credit - 1.7
At 2 March 2023 (1.3) 35.0

Cash flow and fair value hedges are expected to impact on the consolidated income statement in line with the liquidity risk table
shown in Note 23. There have been no ameunts reclassified to profit or loss as a result of the hedged cash flow no longer being
expected to occur. The foreign currency translation reserve includes an accumulated loss of £10.5m (2022: gain of £14.2m) relating

to derivatives designated as net investment hedges.

25. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£m £m
Trade payables 95.2 737
Other taxes and social security 40.2 258
Contract liabilities 197.8 146.2
Accruals 239.8 223.0
Amounits due to parent undertaking 1.175.4 12952
Other payables 103.7 78.1
Deferred and contingeni consideration 38 25.1
1,855.9 1,867.1

Analysed as:
Current 1.852.1 1.865.9
Non-current 3.8 1.2
1.855.9 1.867.1

Included within contract liabilities is £193.8m (2022: £141.4m) relating to customer payments received for accommodation where
the stay will take place after the vear-end and £4.0m (2022: £4.8m) revenue deferred relating to the Group’s customer loyally
programmes. During the year, £146.2m presented as a contract liability in 2022 has been recognised in revenue (2022: £41.3m).

Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.
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Deferred and contingent consideration

2023 2022
£m £m
Opening deferred and contingent consideration 25.t 02.8
Recognised on acquisition of assets 25 -
Unwinding of discount 0.2 14
Paid during the year (25.3) (36.3)
Foreign exchange movements 13 2%
Closing deferved and contingent consideration 38 25.1
The Group has contingent consideration in relation to four pipeline sites from acquisitions in the current and previous years
which is held at fair value. The amounts payable are fixed and become payable once development of the site is complete and
the site has been handed over to the Group, which is expected to occur within two years. The fair value is calculated by
discounting the future payments from their expected handover date using a risk adjusted discount rate. A 1% decrease/increase
in the discount rate would increase/decrease the value of contingent consideration by £0.1m.
Foreign exchange movements on contingent consideration are recognised within exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
26. Share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid
2023 2022
£m fm
“A” Ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2022: 25 pence each) 11.0 L0
Ordinary shares of 23 pence each (2022 23 pence cach) 122.7 1227
133.7 133.7
2023 2022
Million Million
Number of “A” ordinary shares in issue 44.0 44.0
Number or ordinary sharcs in issue 490.6 490.6
Total shares in issue 534.6 334.6

The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares, save that:
i. aholder of "A" shares shall, on return of assets. whether on a winding-up or otherwise. be entitled to participate
proportionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining after the payment of its liabilities

il. a holder of "A" shares has no right as such to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of theCompany

unless a resolution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed: and

iii. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution (except as provided for in (i) above).
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27. Reserves
Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company’s 25 pence ordinary shares.

Retained earnings
In accordance with ITRS practice, 1etained carnings include revaluaton reserves which arose on transition to [FRS.

Currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries, other foreign currency investments and exchange differences on derivative instruments that
provide a hedge against net investments in foreign operations.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value.

28. Analysis of cash flows given in the cash flow statement

2022723 2G21/22
£m £m
Profit for the period 2149.1 1t.6
Adjustments for:
Tax expense 89.2 6.7
Net finance costs (Note 8) 168.2 210.5
Share of profit {from joint ventures (2.3) (0.4)
Depreciation and amortisation 3455 3269
Share-based payvments 17.7 129
[mpairment write ofts/(reversals) (Note 14) 34.9 (34 4)
Gains on disposals, property and other provisions (4.0) (28 8)
Other non-cash items 0.6 77
Cash generated from operations before working capital changes 898.9 5127
Increase in inventories 2.3) (7.3)
Increase in trade and other receivables (10.9) (45.4)
Increase in trade and other payables 1124 2352
Cash generated from operations 997 8 695.2

Other non-cash items include an outflow of £0.4m representing bad debt charges (2021/22: £0.8m inflow), an outflow of £0.7m (2021/22:
£4.3m inflow) as a result of net provision movements, an inflow of £3.6m (2021/22: £2.6m inflow) representing non-cash pension scheme
administration costs and an outflow of £2.1m {2021/22: £nil) from foreign exchange gains.
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29. Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities to be disclosed in the vear ended 2 March 2023 (2022: none).

Subsidiary audit exem ptions

The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the
audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of the Act.

»  Premier Inn (UK) Ltd, 10206057

*  Premier Inn Ochre Limited, 08143826

*  Whitbread Hotel Company Limited, 00224163

+«  Premier Inn Manchester Trafford Ltd, 03876877
*  Premier Inn Westminster Ltd, 01999669

» Elm Hotel Holdings Limited. 04429036

+  Whitbread East Pennines Ltd. 00017030

» St Andrews Homes Ltd, 00359470

» T.F. Ashe & Nephew Lid, 00459284

s Premier Travel Inn India [.td, 06190455

+  Premier Inn International Development Limited, 09190207
¢« Whitbread West Pennines Ltd. 00026091

*  Whitbread Properties Ltd, 00048574

»  Brickwoods Ltd, 00035113

*  Duttons Brewery Ltd, 00054931

*  Swift Hotels Ltd, 00050371

+  Silk Street Hotels Lid, 010333592

+  Premier Inn Glasgow Ltd, 04541995

+  Premier Inn Manchester Airport Ltd, 05861673
«  London Hotel Holdings Ltd, 14261871

Whitbread Group PLC wili guarantee all outstanding liabilities that ihese subsidiaries are subject to as at the financial year ended
2 March 2023 in accordance with section 479C of the Act, as amended by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships
{Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Change of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012. In addition, Whitbread Group PLC
will guarantee any contingent and prospective liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to.
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30. Share based payment plans

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The LTIP awards were made to directors and senior executives of the Group prior to the adoption of the Restricted Share Plan.
Vesting of share awards under the scheme is dependent on continued employment and meeting performance targets over a three-year
vesting period. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans. the shares discussed here relate to those of
the ultimate parent undertaking, Whitbread PLC.

Deferred equity awards

Share awards are made under the Whitbread Directors [ncentive Scheme implemented during 2004/05. The awards are not subject to
perfortance conditions and will vest 1n tull on the release date subject to continued employment at that date. If the director or senior
executive of the Group ceases to be an employee of Whitbread prior to the release date, normally three years after the award. by
reason of redundancy. rctirement, death, injury. ill health, disability or some other reason considered to be a permitted reason by the
Remuneration Committee, the awards will be released in full. If emplovment ceases for any other reason, the proportion of awards
which vest depends upon the year in which the award was made and the date that employment ceased. If employment ceases in the
first vear after an award is made, none of the award vests: between the first and second anniversary, 25% vests: and between the
second and third anniversary, 50% vests. The awards are setiled in equity once exercised. As with ali other plans. the shares
discussed here relate to those of the ultimate parent undertaking. Whitbread PLC.

R&R Scheme

The R&R Scheme enables Whitbread 10 make share awards periodically on a flexible basis. There are typically no performance conditions
but these can be imposed by Whitbread at time of grant. The awards issued are subject to being in employment at date of vesting with no
performance conditions. If employment at Whitbread ceases prior to the vesting date by reason of resignation or terminated for cause, all
unvested shares will lapse, If employment ceases for any other reason. any vesting will be at the discretion of the CEQ and, if granted. will
be on a pro-rated basis to the leaving date. The awards are settled in equity once cxercised, As with all other plans. the shares discussed
here relate to those of the uitimate parent undertaking. Whitbread PLC.

Restricted Share Plan

At the gencral meeting held or 6 December 2019, it was agreed that the Restricted Share Plan would replace the Long Term
Incentive Plan. Vesting of all shares under the scheme will depend on continued employment and meeting underpin targets over a
period of at least three years. Details of the underpin targets that apply to RSP awards are included in the remuneration report on
pages 92 to 1135 of Whitbread PLC. After vesting, there is an additional holding period applicable to directors and senior executives
such that the underpin measurement period and holding period is at least five years. [f employment at Whitbread ceases prior to the
vesting date by reason of resignation or terminated for cause, all unvested shares will lapse. If employment ceases for any other
reason, any vesting will be at the discretion of the Remuneration Committec of Whithread ple and, if granted, will be on a pro-rated
basis to the leaving date. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans, the shares discussed here relate to
those of the ultimate parent undertaking, Whitbread PLC.
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30. Share based payment plans (continued)
Movements in the number ol share awards are as follows:

Outstanding

at the Granted Exercised Expired  Outstanding Exercisabl;

beginning of during the during the during the at the end of at the en
2 March 2023 the vear year year year the vear of the year
Long Term Incentive Plan 130,499 - {57,065} {4,457) 68,977 68.977
Deferred equity awards 154,341 176,272 (64,9173 {1,836) 263,860 -
R&R Scheme S23455 84,249 (39.020) (29,525) 539,159 -
Restricted share plan 254,875 283,603 (3.186) (58.212) 477,080 -
1,063,170 544,124 (164,188) (94,030) 1,349,076 68,977

Outstanding o

atthe Granted Exercised Expired Outstanding ~ Exercisable
beginning of during the during the during the at the end of at the end
3 March 2022 the year year vear year the vear of the year
Long Term Incentive Plan 149,688 - {17.85%) {1330 130.499 129.613
Deferred equity awards 242,160 4,345 (79.978) (12,186) 154341 5.998
R&R Scheme 652,851 12,146 {139.583) (1.959) 523,455 9,586
Restricted share plan 106,687 167,673 - (19.485) 254 875 -
1,151,386 184,164 (237.420) (34.960) 1,063,170 145,197

Employee Sharesave scheme

The employee Sharcsave scheme is open to all employees and provides for a purchase price equal to the market price on the
day preceding the date of invitation, with a 20% discount. The shares can be purchased over the six-month period following the
third or fifth anniversary of the commencement date, depending on the length chosen by the employee.

The weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of movements in the number of share awards are as follows:

2022723 2021/22
WAFP £ WAEP £
QOptions _per share Options __per share
Quitstanding at the beginning of the year 1,173,108 26.01 1,139.975 26.59
Granted during the year 649,795 20.51 410,032 24.86
Exercised during the year (65,199) 27.18 (81,727 26.15
Expired during the year (497,900} 26.19 {295,172) 26.65
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,259,804 23.01 1,173,108 26.01
Exercisable at the vear-end 60,647 27.64 89.941 30.66

Outstanding options to purchase ordinary shares of 76.80p between 2023 and 2028 are exercisable at prices between £24.86
and £31.62 per share (2022: between 2022 and 2027 at prices between £25.33 and £31.62). The weighted average share price
at the date of exercise for options exercised during the year was £30.10 (2022: £31.63).

The weighted average contractual life of the share options outstanding as at 2 March 2023 is between two and three years.
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30. Share based payment plans (continued)
The following table lists the inputs to the model used tor the years ended 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022:

Expected
Exercise Priceat  Expected  dividend Fxpected  Risk-free .

price  grantdate term vield  volatility rate Vesting

Grant date £ £ Years % Yo % conditions

Deferred equuty awards 28.04.2022 - 28.75 3.00 2.00 N/A N/A Service’
Deferred equity awards 27.04.2021 - 32.97 3.00 0.75 N/A N/A Service’
R&R awards — 2 years 28.04.2022 - 28.75 2.00 2.00 N/A N/A Service’
R&R gwards — 3 vears 28.04.2022 28.95 3.00 2.00 A N/A Service’
Restricted share plan’ 17.01.2023 - 30.28 0.16 - N/A N/A Service?
Restricted share plan’ 17.08.2023 - 30.28 2.66 2.00 N/A N/A Service?
Restricted share plan® 17.604.2023 - 30.28 3.66 2.00 N/A N/A Servige®
Restricted share plan® 17.01.2023 - 30.28 2.16 2.00 N/A N/A Service'
Restricted share plan® 17 04 2023 - 30.28 324 2.00 N/A N/A Service?
Restricted share plan 27.04.2021 - 3297 3.00 075 N/A /A Non- market' "
SAYE — 3 vears 02.12.2022 20.51 26.00 3.25 2.00 40.0 3.38 Service’
SAYE -3 years 23.12.2021 24.86 29.63 3.25 200 45.0 0.69 Serviee®
SAYE - 3 years 02.12.2022 20,51 26.09 525 2.00 40.0 3.29 Service?
SAYE — 3 years 23.12.2021 24 86 29.63 5.25 2.00 45.0 0.75 Service®

! Retum on capital employed

2 Earnings per share

' Employment service

* Lease adjusted net debt

* Refer to the Annual repott on remuneration for Whitbread PLC for further details

The fair value of share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model, taking into account the tcrms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.

Expected volatility reflects the assumption that historical volatility is indicative of future trends. which may not necessarily be the
actual outcome. The risk-free rate is the rate of interest obtainable from Government securities over the expected life of the equity
incentive. The expected dividend vield is calculated on the basis of publicly available information at the time of the grant date
which. in most cases, is the historic dividend yield. No other features relating to the granting of options were incorporated into the
measurement of fair value,
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31. Retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes

The Group opcrates a contracted-in defined contribution scheme under the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. Contributions by both
employees and Group companies are held in externally invested. trustec-administered funds.

The Group contributes a specified percentage of earnings for members of the above defined contribution scheme. and thereafter has
no further obligations in relation to the scheme. The total cost charged to the consolidated income statement in relation to the defined
contribution scheme in the year was £12.8m (2021/22; £11.0m). At the year-end, the Group ewed outstanding contributions of £nil
(2022: £nil) in respect of the defined contribution scheme. At the year-end. 24,284 employees (2022: 23.449) were active members
of the scheme, which also had 58,406 deferred members (2022: 52,303).

Defined benefit scheme

The defined benefit (final salary) section of the principal Group pension scheme, the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. was closed to
new members on 31 December 2001 and to future accrual on 31 December 2009. The Whitbread Group Pension Fund is set up under
UK trust law. registered with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs and regulated by the Pensions Regulator. The Whitbread Group
Pension Fund is governed by a corporate Trustee which operates the scheme in accordancewith the requirements of UK pensions
legislation. At the year-end, the scheme had no aclive members (2022: nil), 18,241 deferred pensioners (2022: 18.606) and 15.951
pensionsin pavment (2022: 16.089).

The surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of the detined benetit pension scheme is the fair value of the plan
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period. The IAS 19 pension cost relating to
the defined benefit section of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund is assessed in accordance with actuarial advice fronm. and
calculations provided by. Lane Clark & Peacock, using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms ot the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise. As the scheme is closed to future accrual. there is no future service cost.

The surplus has been recognised as, under the governing documentation of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. the Group has an
unconditional right to receive a refund, assuming the gradual settlement of the scheme liabilities over time until all members and
their dependants have either died or left the scheme. in accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 14 [4AS 19 - The Limit ona Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Regquirements and their Interaction.

The defined benefit scheme entered into a £660.7m buy-in transaction covering 50% of pensioners on 23 June 2022 whereby the
assets of the plan were invested in a bulk purchase annuity policy with the insurer, Standard Life. under which the benefits payable to
defined benefit members covered under the policy became fully insured. The difference between the cost of the insurance policy and
the accounting value of the liabilities secured was £68.7m and has been recorded within actuarial losses in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period 1s 13.0 years {2022: 17.0
years).

Funding

Expected contributions to be made in the next reporting period total £16.4m (2021/22: £14.6m). In 2622/23, contributions were
£14.5m, with £3.6m from the employer, £10.8m from Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership (SLP) and £0.1m of benefits scttled by
the Group in relation to an unfunded scheme (2021/22: £13.0m. with £2.6m from the employer. £10.3m from Moorgate SLP and
£0.1m of benefits settied by the Group in relation to an unfunded scheme). In addition. Whitbread paid £1.2m (2021/22: £1.8m) of
investment manager expenses.

A scheme specific actuarial valuation for the purpose of determining the level of cash contributions to be paid into the Whitbread
Group Pension Fund was undertaken as at 31 March 2020 by Towers Watson Ltd using the projected unit credit method. The
valuation showed a surplus of assets relative to technical provisions of £55.0m (31 March 2017 deficit of £450.0m). As a result, no
deficit reduction contributions are due.

As part of the valuation discussion during 2021/22, Whitbread and the Pension Fund Trustee agreed changes to the security package
that supports the Pension Fund. The EBITDA-related covenant was permanently removed and the security that the Trustee holds
over £500.0m of Whitbread’s frechold property increcased to £531.5m and will remain at this level until no further obligations are due
under the Scottish Partnership arrangements which is expected to be in 2025, Following that. the security held by the Trustec will be
the lower of: £500.0m: and 120% of the buyout deficit and will remain in place until there is no longer a buyout deficit.
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Investment in Moorgate SLLP

The Pension Scheme will receive a share of the income, profits and a variable capital payment from its investment in Moorgate
SLP, which was established by the Group in the year ended 4 March 2010 (the share in profits is accounted for by the Group
as contributions when paid). The partnership interests in Moorgate SLP are held by the Group. the general partner and by the
Pension Scheme.

Moorgate SL.P holds an investment in a further partnership, Farringdon Scottish Partnership (SP). which was also established
by the Group during 2009/10. Property assets with a market value of £221.0m were transferrcd from other Group companies
Lo Farringdon SP and leased back to Whitbread Group PLC and Premier Inn Hotels Limited. The Group retains control over
these properties. including the flexibility to substitute alternative properties. However, the Trustee has first charge over the
property portfolio and certain other assets with an aggregate value of £228.0m which is included in the charge of £531.5m
above. The Group retains control over both partnerships and. as such, they are fully consolidated in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Pension Scheme is a partner in Moorgate SLP and. as such, is entitled to an annual share of the profits of the partnership
over the next four years. At the end of this period, the partnership capital ailocated to the Pension Scheme partner will,
depending on the funding position of the Pension Scheme at that time, be transferred in cash to the Pension Scheme up to

a value of £150.0m.

Under 1AS 19. the investment held by the Pension Scheme in Moorgate SLP, a consolidated entity. does not represent a plan
asset for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly. the pension surplus position in these consolidated
financial statements does not reflect the £21.9m (2022; £96.8m) investment in Moorgate SLP held by the Pension Scheme.

Risks
Through its defined benefit scheme, the Group is exposed to a number of risks in relation to the IAS 19 surplus. the most
significant of which are detailed below:

Risk Description Principal impact and
obligation
reconciliations

Market volatility The value of the defined benefit obligation is linked to AA-rated corporate bonds | Retum on plan assets

whilst the scheme invests some of its assets in alternative asset classes (including
those denominated in foreign currencies). These assets include private equities. Actuarial movements in
secure income assets, gilts, swaps and cash. This exposes the Group to risks financial assumpticns

including those refating to interest rates. equity markets, foreign exchange and
climate change. As a result. any change in market conditions which impacts the
value of the scheme’s assets or the interest rate on AA-rated corporate bonds will
lead to volatility in the Group’s net pension liahility on the balance sheet, pension
expense in the income statemnent and remeasurement of movements in other
comprehenstve income. There is the potential for heightened market volatility
through a number of different sources. including the economic impact of the
Russia-Ukraine confliet, the policy intervention of central banks in response to
the inflationary environment which could have consequential implications on
interest rates, in addition to wider economic impacts. There are also longer term
macroeconomic risks, such as the possible risk of recession and constraints on
market liquidity, which could all adversely affect the Scheme s assets.

Inflationary risk Due to the link between the scheme obligation and inflation, an increase in the Actuarial movements in
expected future rate of inflation will lead to higher scheme liabilities, although this | financial assumptions
is mitigated by the Scheme holding inflation-linked assets which aim to match the
increase in liabilities.

Accounting assumptions The defined benefit obligation is calculated by projecting the future cash flows of | Discount rate: interest income
the scherne tor many years into the future. Consequently, the assumptions used on scheme assets and cost
can have a significant impact on the balance sheet position and income statement on liabilities

charge. In practice, future scheme experience may not be in line with the
assumptions adopted. For example. an increase in the life expectancy of members Mortality: actuarial movements
would increase scheme liabilities. in demographic assumptions

Actuarial movements in
financial assumptions
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The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in updating the most recent valtuation carried out as at 31
March 2020 of the UK scheme to 2 March 2023 for f48 19 Employee Benefits purposes were:

At2March 2023 At 3 March 2022

0/“ %

Pre-April 2006 rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.20 340
Post-April 2006 rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.20 2.30
Pensions increase in deferment 3.20 340
Discount rate 5.00 2.60
Inflation assumption 3.30 3.60

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The mortality
improvements assumption has been updated o use the CMI 2021 model (2022: CMI 2020). The CMI 2021 model parameters include
some weighting for 2021 mortality experience. The assumptions are that a member currently aged 65 will live on average for a
further 19.7 vears (2022: 20.0 years) if they are male and for a further 22,4 years (2022: 22.6 years) if they are female. For a member
who retires in 2043 at age 65, the assumptions are that they will live on average for a further 20.7 years (2022: 21.1 years) after
retirement if they are male and for a further 23.6 years (2022: 23.8 years) after retirement if they arc female,

During the previous year, the Group changed its methodology for determining the discount rate to include single-AA corporate
bonds.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income staternent in respect of the defined benefit scheme are as fellows:

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Net interest on net defined benefit surplus (13.6) 3.6
Administrative expenses 3.6 2.6
Total income recognised in the consolidated income statement (gross of deferred tax) (10.0) [SRU
The amounts taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:
2022723 2021722
£m £m
Actuarial gains (761.5) (218.8)
Return on plan assets lower/(greater) than discount rate 985.1 (100.0)
Re-measurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income 223.6 (318.8)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:
2023 2022
£m im
Present value of defined benefit obligation (1,723.0) (2,521 2)
Fair value of scheme assets 2,047.7 30438
Surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 324.7 522.6
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2022/23 2021/22
£m im
Opening defined benefit obligation 2,521.2 2.804.3
Interest cost 64.0 323
Remeasurement due to:
Changes in financial assumptions (7358.3) (266 0)
Changes in demographic assumptions (26.2) (33.9)
Experience adjustments - gl.1
Benefits paid (100.6) (1165}
Benefits settled by the Group in refation to an unfunded pensior schemne’ {0.1) (0.1
Closing defined benefit obligation 1,723.0 2,521.2
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31. Retirement benefits (continued)

Changes in the tair value ot the scheme assets are as follows:

202223 2021/22

£m £m

Opening fair value of scheme assets 3,043.8 29623

Interest income on s¢heme assets 77.6 55.9

Retum on plan assets (lower)/greater than discount rate’ {985.1) 100.0

Contributions from employer! 3.6 26

Additional contributions from Maoorgate SLP 10.8 10.3

Investment manager expenses paid by the employer! 1.2 1.8

Bencfits paid (100.6) (116.3)

Administrative expenses (3.6) (2.6

Closing fair value of scheme assets 2,0647.7 30438
The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

2023 2022
Quoted and Quoted and

pooled Unquoted Total pooled Unquoted Toral

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities - - - 76.4 - 76.4

Alternative assets 11 - 1.1 143.0 - 1430

Bonds - 13 1.3 164.6 32 167.8

Private markets - 508.4 508.4 - 460.7 460.7

Liability driven investments? 990.5 - 990.5 2.160.8 - 2,160.8

Cash and other* 336 0.2 338 351 - 351

Buy-in insyrance - 512.6 5126 - - -

1,025.2 10225 2,047.7 25799 4639 3,043 8

! The total of' these flems equals the cash paid by the Group as per the consolidated cash flow statement. *Contributions from emplover” include contributions to cover

administration expenses.
? Includes cost of managing fund assets.

* Liability driven investments includes UK fixed and index-linked gilts, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, interest rate and inflation

(RP)swaps. gilts futures and cash.

* Gther primarily relates to assets held in respect of cash and net current assets.

‘The assumptions in relation to discount rate, mortality and inflation have a significant effect on the measurement of scheme liabilities.
The following table shows the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in these assumptions:

Decrease/(increase) in liability

2023 2022
£m £m

Discount rate
2.00%0 increase to discount rate 357.0
2.00%% decrease 1o discount rate (548.0%
1.00% increase to discount rate 359.0
1 .00% decrease to discount rate (458.0)
Inflation
0.25% increase to inflation rate (39.0) (73.0)
0.25% decrease to inflation rate 38.0 72.0
Life expectancy
Additional one-year increase to life expectancy (71.3) (12600

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. Where the discount rate is changed. this will have an
impact on the valuation of scheme assets in the opposing direction. The above sensitivities table shows only the expected changes to the
gross defined benefit obligation (liability). When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation 10 significant actuarial
assumptions, the same method (projected unit credit method) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised
within the consolidated balance sheet. The methods and types of assumptions did not change.
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32. Related party disclosure

The Group consists of a parent company, Whitbread Group PLC. incorporated in the UK. and a number of subsidiaries and joint
ventures held directly and indirectly by Whitbread Group PLC, which operate and are incorporated around the world. Note 19 to
the Company's separate tinancial statements lists details of the interests in subsidiaries and related undertakings.

The Group holds 6%s as a general partnership interest in Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership (SLP) with Whitbread Pension
Trustees holding the balance as a limited partner. Moorgate SLP holds a 67 8% investment in a further partnership. Farringdon
Scottish Partership (SP), which was established by the Group to hold property assets. The remaining 32.2% interest in
Farringdon SP is owned by the Group. The partnerships were set up in 2009/10 as part of a transaction with Whitbread Pension
Trustees and the Group retains control over both partnerships and. as such. they are fully consolidated in these consolidated
financial statements. Further details can be found in Note 31.

Ultimate controlling party
The vitimate controlling party is Whitbread PLC.

Related party transactions

202223 2021722

Joint ventures Joint ventures

£m £m

Sales to a related party - 0.1

Joint ventures
For details of the Groups investments in and loans to joint ventures, see Note 15, those details are excluded from the table above.
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors):

The key management personnel of the Group are defined as the members of the Whitbread PLC Executive Committee. Compensation
of key management personnel (including directors) is set out below.

202223 2021/22

£m £m

Short-tetm employee benetits 9.5 84
Post-enployment benefits - -
Share-based payments 6.1 39
15.6 12.3

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales to. and purchases from. related parties are made at normal market prices. Cutstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and
settiement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided, or received, for any related party receivables. No adjustment for
expected credit loss relating to amounts owed by related parties has been made (2022: £nil). An assessment is undertaken, each financial
year, through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which the related parties operate.

Transactions with other related parties
Details of transactions with directors are detailed in Note 7,

33. Events after the balance sheet date

Share buy-back

The Whitbread plc Board of Directors approved a share buy-back of Whitbread ple shares on 24 April 2023 for £300.0m and the
programme is being undertaken in accordance with that approval.

Revolving credit facility

In May 2023 the Group signed an extension to the existing 5 year £775m multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement,
extending the final maturity date by one year to now expire on 25 May 2028. The facility’s other terms remain consistent, being a
Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement and having variable interest rates with GBP being linked to SONIA and EUR being linked
to EURIBOR.

34. Business combinations

Acquisition in 2022/23

On | March 2023, the Group acquired the frechold interest of one hotel in Austria and was assigned the leaschold of five hotels within
Germany for cash consideration of £25.9m and deferred consideration of £2.5m.

This transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations as the fair value of the assets is
concentrated in a single group of similar assets. On acquisition. the Group has recognised PPE of £26.3m. right-of-use assets of £47.1m
and lease liabilities of £44.4m in relation 10 the hotels acquired. The transaction formed part of the Group’s strategic priotity of
international growth.
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Company balance sheet
At 2 March 2023

2 March 2023 3 March 2022
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 4 71.9 3135
Property. plant and equipment 3 1,865.4 1.856.3
Right-of-use assets 6 519.7 594.7
Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures 7 2,099.6 1,9479
Derivative financial instruments 5 - 158
Loans to subsidiaries 320.2 303.5
Defined benefit pension surplus 12 346.6 6194
52234 5.389.1
Current assets
Inventories 8 16.3 162
Current tax asset 73.1 211
Trade and other receivables 9 813 61.5
Cash and cash equivalents 1,122.1 1,089.0
1292.8 1,187.8
Assets classified as held for sale 5 2.3 552
‘Total assets 6,5185 6.632.1
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 6 28.0 26.5
Provisions 13 8.6 1.7
Trade and other payables 10 2,520.1 23223
2,556.7 2.360.5
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings i1 993.4 991.9
Lease Liabilities 6 613.2 7103
Provisions 13 83 8.9
Derivative financial instruments 15 78 -
Deferred tax liabilities 14 142.0 137.6
1,764.7 1.8487
Total liabilities 4,321.4 4209.2
Net assels 2,097.1 24229
Equity
Share capital i6 133.7 1337
Share premium i7 207.7 2077
Revaluation reserve 17 179 21.8
Capital redemption reserve 17 11.7 11.7
Retained ecarnings 17 18220 2,046.2
Hedging reserve 17 (1.3) -
Excluded component of hedge reserve 17 54 18
Total equity 2,197.1 24229

Ntz

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
25 July 2023

The income statement of the parent Company is omitted from the Company's accounts by virtue of the exemption granted by
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The loss generated for ordinary shareholders and included in the financial statements
of the parent Company amounted to £13.2m (2021/22: loss of £58.4m).
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Capital Excluded
Share Share  Revaluation Retained redemption  Hedging  component of
capital  premium reserve earnings reserve reserve  hedge reserve Total
m £m £m m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2021 1337 267.7 232 1.900.3 1.7 2.1 - 22745
Loss for the year - - - {(58.4) - - - (58.4)
Onbier conprehensive incorne - - - 190.0 - 2.1 L8 193.9
Total comprehensive income - - - 131.6 - 2.1 18 1355
Accrued share-based payments - - - 129 - - - 129
Realised revaluation gain transferred to profit and loss 14 L4
account ) ) (1.4 . B B B B
At 3 March 2022 133.7 2077 218 2,046.2 1.7 - 18 24229
Loss for the year - - - 13.2) - - - (13.2)
Other comprehensive income - - - (232.6) - (1.3} 36 (230.3)
Total comprehensive income - - - (245.8) - (1.3) 36 (243.5)
Accrued share-based payreents - - - 17.7 - - - 17.7
Realised revaluation gain transferred to profit and loss
accourt £ P - - (3.9 3.9 B - B B
At 2 March 2023 133.7 207.7 17.9 1,822.0 11.7 (1.3) 54 2,197.1
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1. General Information and authorisation of consolidated financial statements

The financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023 were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 25 July 2023. Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom
under (he Companics Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company’s senior unsecured bonds are listed on the
l.ondon Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PL.C, its subsidiaries and joint ventures, operate hotels and restaurants. located in the UK and internationally.
2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation
The financial statements of Whitbread Group PL.C have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the ncarest hundred thousand except when
otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 52 weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior financial year: 53 weeks to 3 March
2022).

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard 100 'Appiication of Financial
Reporting Requirements' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, the Company has applied Financial
Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council in preparing these
financial statements.

As permitted by FRS 101. the company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation
Lo share-based payments, non- current assets held for sale. financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative
information in respect of certain assets, presentation o{ a cash-flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets
and related party transactions. Where required. equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated accounts of the Company and
Group accounts of Whitbread PLC. The Group accounts of Whitbread PLC are available to the public and can be obtained as set
out in Note 20.

Going concern
The directors have concluded that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on the going concern basis (see Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements).

Accounting policies
The accounting policies applied are consistent with those disclosed in Note 2 to the consclidated financial statements except as
indicated below.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for any impairment. The carrying value of investments are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may net be recoverable. Cost
is the fair value of the consideration given. including acquisition charges associated with the investment.

[nvestments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Company has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined it to be a joint venture.
Investments in joint ventures are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. including acquisition charges
associated with the investment less any provision for impairment.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Derivatives and hedging

The Company enters into derivative transactions to manage its exposure 10 exchange rate and foreign exchange rate risks.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured to their fair
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument. in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hiedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivatlive with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial lHability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Company has both the legal
right and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as
fair value hedges and cash tlow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow
hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item. along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company
documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting the hedged risk. by confirming that there is an economic
relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that
result from that economic relationship: and the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratio of hedge: hedge
item. The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accurnulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, or when the
hedging instrument expires. is sold, terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a net invesiment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the
effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Company uses a loan as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries. Refer to
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements for more details.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements. estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported as assets and liabilities at the balance sheect date and the amounts reported as revenues and expenses during the
vear. Although these amounts are based on management's best estimates, events or actions may mean that actual results ultimately
differ from those estimates, and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying
assumptions are reviewed regularly.

The critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty applicable to the Company are consistent with

those disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, with the exception of Adjusting itcms as these arc not disclosed
by this Company.
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202223 2022/23 2021722 2021722
Pence per share fm Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - . N N
4. Intangible assets
Goodwill 1T software Tatal
Cost £m £m £m
At 3 March 2022 4.1 111.3 1154
Additions - 36.7 36.7
Assets written off - (10.5) (10.5)
At 2 March 2023 4.1 1375 141.6
Amortisation and impairment
At 3 March 2022 (1.1} (62.8) (63.9)
Amortisation during the year - (16.3} (16.3)
Amortisation on assets written oft - 10.3 105
At 2 March 2023 (L1} (68.6) (69.7)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 3.0 68.9 71.9
Net book value at 3 March 2022 3.0 48.5 313
A review of IT software assets resulted in write-off of assets with a net book value of £nil (2021/22: £0.1m)
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.6m (2022: £7.4m).
S. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures &
Land & Buildings equipment Total
Cost £m £m £m
At 3 March 2022 1,536.1 6193 21354
Additions 16.0 92.8 108.8
Interest capitalised 0.7 - 0.7
Net movements with assets held for sale 9.6 4.0 13.6
Disposals (12} {0.5) amn
Assets written off (0.5) (46.0) {46.5)
At 2 March 2023 1,560.7 669.6 2.230.3
Depreciation and impairment
At 3 March 2022 (73.0) (226.1) (299.1)
Depreciation charge for the year (7.1} (70.7) (77.8}
Net impairment charge (23.8) 4.0) (27.8)
Neat movements with assets heid for sale (6.4 (1.9 (8.3)
Disposals 1.2 6.5 7
Depreciation on assets written off 0.4 46.0 464
At 2 March 2023 (108.7y (256.2) (364.9)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 1.452.0 413.4 1.865.4
Net book value at 3 March 2022 1.463.1 3932 1,856.3

Capitalised interest

Additions to land and buildings include £0.7m of interest capitalised during the year at an average rate of 2.5% (2022: £0.7m at 2.7%).

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments in relation to property. plant and equipinent at the year-end amaunted to £18.1m (2022: £51.2m).
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5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment

The increase in market interest rates has driven higher discount rates and has increased impairments in the Company. Gross
impairment charges of £49.9m (property, plant and equipment of £43.8m and right-of-use assets of £6. lm), have resulted from
reduced trade on standalone restaurants and those sites where F&B revenues represent a more significant proportion of total
sales. as well as the increase seen in WACC. This has been offset by impairment reversals of £23.0m (property. plant and
equipment of £16.0m and right-of-use assets of £7.0m), as the Company recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic and sites
returned to a more normal level of trading. This resulted in a total net impairment charge under IAS 36 of £26.9m being
recorded in the Comnany,

Further detail on the impairment assessment and the assumptions used is set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Assets held for sale

During the year, three property assets with a net book value of £1.9m (2021/22: two with a net book value of £47.3m) were
transferred into assets held for sale. Seven property asscts were transferred back to fixed assets with a net beok value of £7.9m
(2021/22: none). One property asset was disposed of during the year with a net book value of £46.9m (2021/22: three with a net
book value of £7.0m). No impairment loss was recognised relating to assets classified as held for sale (2021/22: none). By the year
end there were four sites with a combined net book value of £2.3m (2021/22: nine sites with a net book value of £55.2m).

6. Lease arrangements

The company leases various buildings which are used within the Premier Inn business. The leases are non-cancellable leases with
varying terms. escalation clauses and renewal rights, and include variable payments that are not fixed in amount but based upon a
percentage of sales. The company also leases various plant and equipment under non-cancellable lease agreements.

An analysis of the Group’s right-of-use asset and lease liability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

Property Other Totat

£m £m £m

At 25 February 2021 5885 1.7 590.2
Additions 304 0.7 311
Net impairment reversal 3.0 - 5.0
Depreciation (30.3) 0.9) 312}
Terminations 0H - (0.4)
At 3 March 2022 5932 1.5 594.7
Additions 150 0.7 157
Net impairment reversal 0.9 - .9
Depreciation (28.1) (0.8) (28.9)
Transfer to group undertaking (62.7) - (62.7)
At 2 March 2023 5183 1.4 519.7
Lease liability Properts Other Total
£m £m £m

At 25 February 2021 7297 1.8 7313
Additions 304 0.7 311
Interest 32.8 - 328
Payments (37.7) 0.7) (58.4)
Terminations (0.2) - 02
At 3 March 2022 7350 1.8 736.8
Additions 15.0 0.7 15.7
Interest 30.0 - 30.0
Payments (7L.2) (1.0) (72.2)
Teansfer to group undertaking 69.1} - (69.1)
At 2 March 2023 639.7 L5 641.2

During the year. the Company had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £11.3m (2021/22: £20.5m)
relating to new leases and £4.4m (2021/22: £9.9m) relating to amendments to existing leases.
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6. Lease arrangements {continued)

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2022/23 2021722

£m £m

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 28.9 312
Interest expense on lease liabilities 30.0 328
Expense relating to low-value assets and short-term leases - -
Variable lease payment expense 14 -
Impairment reversal on right-of-use assets (0.9) (50
Lease income (1.8) 27h
57.6 363

Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability

The Company has several lease contracts that inciude extension and termination options. Set out below are the undiscounted future
rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease
liability.

2022/23 2021/22

£m £m

Extension options expected not to be exercised 269.8 3733
Termination options expected not to be exercised - -
269.8 3733

The Company uses judgement in determining whether termination and extension option periods will be included within the lease term.
The Company assumes that, unless a decision has been made to exit a lease, termination options will not be exercised as a result of
historic practices within the Group. At the outset of a lease. the Company assumes that it will not exercise extension options. Due to
the length of the Company’s [eases, there is generally insufficient evidence that excrcising an extension option is certain.

The Company as a lessor

The Company acts as a lesser in relation to a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the vear is £1.8m (2021/22: £2.7m). Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases at the year-end are as tollows:

2022/23 2021722

£m £m

Within one year L6 1.7
After one year but not more than five years 29 24
More than five years 4.2 3.1
8.7 73

Maturity of lease liabilities
The company has undiscounted future [ease payments associated with leases recognised within the lease liability as follows:

2022/23 2021/22
£m fm

Within one vear 58.3 57.8
After one year but not mere than five years 2258 239.1
More than five years but not more than 10 years 273.1 269.7
More than 10 years but not more than 20 356.6 3538
More than 20 years 3324 3718
1.246.2 1,292.2
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7. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Subsidiary

undertakings Joint venture Total

£m Lm £m

At 3 March 2022 1.947.9 - 19479
Additions 138.3 - 138.3
Foreign exchange 13.4 - 13.4
At 2 March 2023 2,099.6 - 2,099.6

During the financial year a further investment was made to the entity’s investments in Premier Inn Holding (imbH and PI Hotels &
Restaurants [iclaud Limited in exchange for share capital. providing funding to support acquisitions of hotels in Germany and Ireland
as well as operational cash flows.

In October 2019, the Company entered into cross-currency swaps. whereby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and receives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £450.0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group's investment in its
business in Germany. The swaps mature in Gctober 2025 in line with the bonds.

Information about the Company’s related undertakings can be found in Note 19.

8. Inventories

2023 2022
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 154 13.6
Consumables 0.9 26
16.3 16.2
The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £1.4m (2022: £2.5m).
During the year, cost of inventories recognised as an expense totalled £148.8m (2021/22: £100.2m).
9. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
£m £fm
Trade debtors 228 24.9
Prepayments and acerued income 30.0 14.2
Other debiors 285 224
813 61.5

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Trade debtors includes £21.9m (2022:
£23.9m) relating to contracts with customers.

The allowance for expected credit {oss relating to trade and other receivables at the year end was £0.6m (2022: £1.2m). During the
vear. credit losses of £1.1m (2021/22: £2.4m) were recognised within operating costs in the consolidated income statement.
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10, Trade and other payables

2023 2022

£m £m

Trade payables 87.0 683
Amounts owed to group undertakings and parent 2,085.1 1.962.7
Orher taxes and social security 387 24.7
Contract liabilities 67.2 359
Accruais 173.3 162.3
Other pavables 68.8 484
2520.1 23223

Amounts payable to related parties are payable on demand and carry an average quarterly interest rate based upon the group funding.

Contract liabilities relate to payments received for accommodation where the stay will take place after the year-end and the Group's

customer loyalty programmes.

Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.

11. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Company s borrowing facilities are as follows:

Current Non-current
2003 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m
Revolving credit facility - - - -
Seuior unsecured bonds - - 993.4 991 9
- 993.4 991.9
FFull details of the loans repayable are given in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
12. Pensions
2023 2022
£m £fm
Pension surplus 346.6 619 4

During the year, the accounting surpius decreased from £615.4m at 3 March 2022 to £346.6m at 2 March 2023, The principal

reasons for this decrease were lower returns on plan assets than expected using the discount rate. offset by actuarial gains on the

obligation caused primarily from an increase in discount rate applied.

As explained further in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. the Whitbread Group established a partnership, Moorgate
SLP. in which the Group is a general partner to hold an investment in a further partnership, Farringdon SP in March 2010.

Under LAS 19, the partnership interest held by the pension scheme represents a plan asset for the purposes of this Company's
accounts, and accordingly the pension surplus position in the Company accounts was increased by £21.9m (2022: £96.8m) to reflect

the interest in Moorgate SLP held by the pension scheme.

For information concerning the assets and liabilities of the pension scheme, and details of the actuarial valuation. see Note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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13. Provisions

Onerous Property
Restructuring contracts COsts Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 3 March 2022 0.4 3.1 0.1 17.0 20.6
Created - 1.7 - 28 4.5
Transferred - 1.1 - - 11
Utlised - (13 - 2.3 (3.6)
Released {0.9) 0.6) - 4.7 (5.7
At2 Miarch 2023 - 4.0 0.1 2.8 169
Analysed as:
Current - 4.0 0.1 4.5 8.6
Non-current - - - 8.3 83
At2 March 2023 - 4.0 0.1 128 16.9
Restructuring

A provision of £0.4m was brought forward in relation to the restructure of the Group’s Support Centre and site operations, During the
year. the Company released the remaining provision to the income statement.

Onerous contracts
Onercus contract provisions relate primarily to property and software licences where the contracts have become onerous. Provision is
made for property-related costs for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is not possible.

Oncrous contract provisions are discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) based on an approximatien for the {ime valuc
of money.

Property-related

The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Company utilises the skills and cxpertise of both internal
and external properly experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to 12 years
and £0.2m has been utilised in the year.

Software

Certain software licence agreements were deemed to be onerous when, following the disposal of Costa. it was no longer beneficial
to the Company to use the software. In addition, a provision was created in FY20 as a result of the cancellation of a contract relating
to the supply of IT equipment. A provision of £0.8m was brought forward in relation to these contracts. During the year, the
Company utilised £0.3m (2022: £0.4m) of this provision, with the provision carricd forward to be utilised over a two-year period.
The software intangible assets associated with these contracts have been fully impaired in previous financial years.

Property costs
From FY18 to FY 20, the Group established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding material at & small
number of the Group’s sites. As a result. a provision of £0.1m is brought forward in relation to these costs.

Other

Insurance

A provision of £7.7m was brought forward in relation to the estimate of the cost of futurc claims against the Group from both
cmployees and the public. The claims covered typically relates to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread’s sites. During the
vear further provisions were created with a value of £2.8m and £2.2m of the provision was utilised.

Government payments

The Company has made various claims for government support which are subject to the review of relevant agencies. The provision
recognised represents the Company’s best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submitted claims. and for
potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £9.2m was brought forward in relation to these claims. During the year
£0.1m of the provision was utilised with £4.7m of the provision released. The provision being held in relation to any potential
repayments required in respect of the interpretations and assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme claims was released as management is satisfied that no repayments arc required following an HMRC review. Due to the
complex nature and fast pace of changes in the rules around certain government payments, thc Company has endeavoured to apply
and adhere to the rules inplace. In certain areas where a rule interpretation was required. the Company has claimed in accordance
with its assumptions.
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14. Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred tax relates to the following

2023 2022
£m £m
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capitai allowances (45.2) (39.2}
Rolled over gains and property revaluations (69.0) (61 1)
Pensions (116.4) (165.9)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (230.6) (266.2)
Deferred tax assets
l.eases 218 235
Losses 60.4 4.2
Other 6.4 09
Gross deferred tax assets 886 128.6
Net deferred tax liabilities {142.0) (137.6%
15. Derivative financial instruments
Categories of {inancial instruments accounted for at fair value:
2023 2022
Financial assets at fair value
Derivative financial instruments held at fair vaiue Current - -
Non-current - 158
Financial liabilities held at fair value
Derivative financial instruments held at fajr vajue Current - -
Non-current 7.8

The change in value of tinancial instruments at fair value was charged to the profit or loss account during the year with a value of
£1.1m (2022: credit of £1.3m) and the charge to the hedge reserve was £1.3m {2022 credit of £2.1m).

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as level 2 is caleulated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant market
discount rate at the batance sheet date.

16. Share capital

Allotied, called up and fully paid

2023 2022

£m £m

“A” Ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2022: 25 pence each) 11.0 11.0
Ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2022: 25 pence each) 122.7 1227
1337 133.7

2023 2022

Million Million

Number of “A” ordinary shares in issue 440 44.0
Number or ordinary shares in issue 490.6 490.6
Total shares in issue 534.6 534.6

The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares. save that:
i. a holder of "A" shares shall, on return of assets. whether on a winding-up or otherwise, be entitled to participate
proportionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining afier the payment of its liabilities

if, a holder of "A" shares has no right as such 1o receive notice of or atiend or vote at any general meeting of the
Company unless a resolution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed. and

ifi. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution (except as provided for in (i)
above).
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17. Reserves
Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company's 25 pence ordinary shares.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve includes the amounts that were re-valued on the UK properties up to and including 1998/99. It has been
the company’s policy not to revalue fixed asscts and the reserve is unwinding over a period of timc as the re-valued properties are
disposed of.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value.

Excluded component of hedge reserve
The excluded component of hedge reserve records movement in the elements of derivatives used in hedging arrangements that are
excluded from the hedge relationship.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings are the accumulated profits of the Company.

18. Contingent liabilities
Whithbread Group PL.C has undertaken to guarantee the lease payments of some other companies in the Group. the total committed

guarantees of this type amountto £2.371.6m (2022: £1,437.9m). it also has bank and other guarantees totalling £0.1m (2022: £0.1m).

The company considers it unfikely that it will be called upon to make any payments under these guarantees.

The company has additionally guaranteed liabilitics of certain subsidiaries. See Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

19. Related parties

Details of related undertakings are shown below:
19. Related parties - active undertakings % of class of

% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different nominal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
AIRE HIEY Stuttgart Verwaltungs GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 30.000 - 100.0 100.0
Brickwoods Limited England' Ordinary £0.25 oo - 100.0
Duttons Brewery Limited o England’ Ordinary £1 00 o o - 1666
Elm Hotel Hoidings Lumied England’ Ordinary £0 10 - - 100.0 100.0
Famngdon Scottish Partnership Scotland® N/A B N/A N/A N/A
Healthy Retail Limited England™ A ordmary £0.01 100.0 —
- B ordinary £0.01 o e T -
Cordinary £0.01 i = _— - -
London Hotel Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Miiten (SC) 2 Limited Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 100.0 ) — _100.0
Mitton (SCY Limited T Seotland? " "Ordinary £1 00 I ) T = 1000
Miiton 1 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 . 1000 - 100.0
Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership o Scotland” | N/A N7A N/A N/A
PI Hotels and Restaurants Ireland Limited Iretand” Ordinary EUR 1.00 e o - W -
Premier Inn (Bath Street) Limited Jersey” Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Premuer Ini (Guernsey) Limited - Guernsey Ordinary £1.00 ) ) 100.0 ] T 16070
Prernier Ing (fsie of Man) Limited “Isie of Man™ Ordinary £1 00 ) 100.0 TC 1000
Premier Inn (Jersey) Limited lersey Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Premier Inn (UK) Limited England” " Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Premier Inn AT Holding GrbH Austria' Ordinary EUR 35,000 1006 L - 100.0
Premier Inn AT Immobilienbesitz GmbH TAustna” Ordinary EUR 35,000 = 1000 1000
Premier Inn AT Howelbetniebsgesellschaft GmbH Austria” Ordinary EUR 35,000 ] - 160.0 1000
Premier Inn Dortmund Konigswall GmbH T Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 T — 100.0 1000
Premier Inn Essen City Hauptbahnhotf GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 = o 100.0 1000
Premier Inp Flensburg City GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 - 100.0 1000
Premier lnn Frankfurt City Ostbahnhof GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 B - _100.0 100.0
Premier Inp Frankfurt Eschborm GmbH T Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 - 100 0 1000
“Premier Inn Glasgow Limited T T Engiand’ Ordinary £1 00 S - 1000 1060
Premier Inn GmbH T Germanys‘ 777777 Ordinary EUR 25.000 - 100.0 160.0
Premier Inn Hamburg Nordanalstrasse GmbH Germany” Ordinary EUR 25,000 N = __looo _leoo
Premicr Inn Folding GmbH T Germany® 7 Grdinary EUR 25.000 056 - 1Go o
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9. Related parties — active undertakings (continued)

%a of class of

% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different nominal
Coauntry of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company narie incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Premnier Inn Hotel GmbH Germany® There are ne classes of sharcs. The - 100.0 1000
total nominal share capital amounts to
EUR 300 000 and is divided into two
shares, one in the nominal amount of
EUR 275.000 and one in the nomimal
amount of EUR 23 000
Premier Inn Horels Lipnted “Ordinary €100 7

Premier Lean Hotels LLC

“Premier fnn Verwaltungsgesellschaft Sud GmbE

_Ordinary GAR 10000~

Ordinary AED 1,500

Premier Inn Westminster Limited

Ordinary £1.00

Premiet Trave! Inn India Limated

Ordinary £1.00

PT. Whitbread Indonesia

Ordiary USD ! 00

PTI Middle East Eimited United Arab Ordinary AED 1,000
77777777777777 o Enurates!!
Silk Streef Hotels Limited England] Deferred £1.00
o Ordinary USD 00T
St Andrews Homes Limited e England' Ordinary £1.00
Swift Hotels Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00
Preference £5 00*'*—'”"”*-*“*“‘“” ’
T.F. Ashe & Nephew Limuted England' Deferred £1.00

Ordinary £001
Ordinary EUR 25,000 )

Ordinary EUR 25,000

UNA 352, Equity Manaéement GmbH
1 ific Prive ummd

GD

Or Ty

Whitbread Hotel Company Limiied England’ Ordinary £G.10
Whitbread Intemnational Sourcing Business Services Chimna® Ordinary RMB1.00
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd B o
Whitbread Properties Limited England’ 5% non-cumulative preference £0 50
B - 7%a on-cumulative preference £0.25
,«_m e e . o o o o o = S e
Whitbread West Pennines Limited England' Ordirary £1.00
WHRI Development DMCC United Arab Ordinary AED 1,000
o e Emirates™
WHRI Holding Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00
19. Related parties — dormant undertakings %o of class of
% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different nominal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) _applicable)
Advisebegin Limited Fngland' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Alastair Campbell & Company Limived Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Archibald Campbell Hope & King Limited Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 1000
Auturnn Days Limited Fngland' Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 1606
Belgrave Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 160.0 — 1000
Beistead Brook Manor Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 160.0
Brewers Fayre Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 1000 — 100.0
Britannia Inns Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Broughton Park Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Carpenters of Widnes Limited England' Ordinary £0.0} 100.0 - 0.0
Deferred ordinary £1 00 1000 - 100 0
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19. Related parties — dormant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% of class of  shares held by the nominal

shares held  group {if different value

Country of by the parent from the parent (where

Company name incorporation  Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)}
Cherwell Inns Liznited Englang’ A prdinary non-voting £1 00 100.0 — 66.7
Chiswell Overseas Limited Engiand’ Ordmary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Chiswell Properties Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Churchgate Manor Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 ~ 100 0 1000
Country Club Hotels Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Cromweli Hotel (Stevenage) England’ Ordwary £1.00 — 100 0 100 0
Cymric Hotel Company Linited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100 .0 100.0
Danesk Limited Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 100 0 — 100 0
David Williams (Builth) Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Dealend Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Delamont Freres Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Delaunay Freres Limited England’ Ordinary £1 .00 100.0 = 1000
Dome Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1000
Dragon Inns and Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100 0
Dukes Head 1988 Limited England! B ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
W ordinary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0

E.Lacon & Co.. Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
E.B. Holdings Limited England! Ordinary £1 .00 100.0 — 1000
Evan Evans Bevan Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Finite Hotel Systems Limited Lngland’ A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 50.0
B ordinary £1.00 ~ 100.0 50.0

Fleet Wines & Spirits Limited England’ Ordmary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Forest of Arden Golfand Country Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Gable Care Limnited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Goodhews (Castle) England’ A ordnary £1.00 — 100.0 51.0
Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 49.0

Goodhews (Holdings) Limited England’ A ordmary £1.00 1000 — 422
B ordinary £1 .00 100.0 - 42.2

C ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 15.6

Goodhews (Inns) England’ Orcinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Goodhews (Restaurants) England’ COrdinary £1.00 — 100.0 160 0
Goodhews B. & § Timited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 160.0 100.0
Goodhews Enterprises England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1G0.0 100.0
Goodhews Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Gough Brothers Limited England' Deferred ordinary £.0.20 100.0 - 97.6
Ordinary £0.20 100.0 - 2.4

Grosvenor Leisure Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Hammock Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Hart & Co., (Boats) Limited England’ 1% non-curnulative preference £1.00 - 100.0 99.0
Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1.0

1% non-cumnulative preference £0.01 - P00 —

Harveys Leisure Promotions Limited England’ A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 700
B ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 30.0

Hunter & Oliver Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
J. Burton (Warwick} Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
J.J. Norman and Ellery Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
James Bell and Company Limtted England’ Deferred ordinary £0.25 — 100 0 96.7
Ordinary £0.01 - 100.0 3.8

Jestbread Limited England’ Ordinary £1.0¢ 100.0 - 1000
Kingsmills Hotet Company Limited Scotland’’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Lambtons Ale Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Latewise Limited England’ Ordinary £1.06 534 - 33,4
Lawnpark Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Lesure and Retai] Resources Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 996 996
[ loyds Avenue Catering Limited England' 3% non-cumulative preference £1.00 100.0 — 30.0
Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 500

London Intemationa} Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Lorimer & Clark, Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Mackeson & Company Limited England' Ordinary £1.60 100.0 — 100.0
Mackies Wine Company Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 10G.0
Maredrove Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Marine Hotel Porthcawl Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Marlow Catering Limited Fngland’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Meon Valiey Golfand Country Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Milton 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100 ¢
Morans of Bristol Timited England’ Ordnary £1.00 100.0 - 100 O
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19. Related parties - dormant undertakings {continued) % of class of % of
% ofclass of  shares held by the nominal
shares held group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Morris’s Wine Stores Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 54
5.6% non-cumulative preference £1.00 - 100 0 94.6
New Clapton Stadium Company Limited England’ Ordinary £0.05 - 100.0 1000
Norseman Lager Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 106.0 {0G.0
Pacific Caledonian Properties Limited Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
Percheron Properties Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Peter Domunic Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
PI Hotels York Limited England Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 100.0
Piquant Caterers Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Pizzaland Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 100.0
Premier Inn Kier Limited England A ordinary £1.00 — - -
B ordinary £1.00 — 1000 50.0
Premier Inn Limied England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Premier Inn Troon Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 1000
Priory Letsure Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100 0 000
R C. Goughand Co. Limited England’ Ordinary £1 Q0 1000 - 100.0
Raybain (Northem) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
Raybain (Wine Bars) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100 O
Respotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 1000 1000
Rhymney Breweries Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
S & S Property Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 1000
S.H Ward & Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 1000
Salford Automatics Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Scorechance 1 Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100 0 1000
Scorechance 12 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1600 100.0
Scorechance (7 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100 0 [00.0
Scorechance 25 Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 100.0
Scarcchance 8 Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 1000 100.0
Sheffield Automatics Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Shewell Limited England' Ordinary £1 00 1000 — 100.0
Silk Street Hotel Liverpool Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Smal!l & Co. (Engineerng) Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 100.0
Small & Co. Limited England’ 7% cumulative preference £1.00 — 100.0 0.7
Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 993
Spring Soft Drinks Limited England’ Ordinary £1 .00 - 100.0 100.0
Sprowston Manor Hotel Limited England” Ordinary £1 00 - 1000 100.0
Square October [ Limited England™ Ordinary £1.00 - 1006 106 0
Square October 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 100.0
Square October 3 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
St Andrews Homes (1995) Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 1000
St Martins Care Homes Investments Limited England™ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Stoneshell Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 ~ 100.0 100.0
Stripe Travel Inn Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100 0
Strong and Co. of Romsey Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Summerfields Care Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Sun Tavems Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 50 95.0 100.0
Sweetings (Chop House) Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 1009 - 100.0
Swingbndge Hotel Limited England? Ordinary £1 .00 - 100.0 100.0
Swift (Lurchrise) Litmited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Swilt Hotels (1995} Limited England? Ordinary £1 00 - 1000 100.0
Swaft Hotels (Management) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 = 1000 1000
Swifl Inns and Restayrants Limited England’ Ordimary £1.00 — 1000 1000
Swaft Profit Sharing Scheme Trustees Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Swift Quest Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Tewkesbury Park Goif and Country Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
The Barcave Group Limited England’ 7% cumulative preference £1.00 100.0 - 90.9
Ordinary £1 00 1000 - 91
The Dominic Group Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
The Four Seasons Hotel Investments Limited England’ 8% cumnulative preference A £1.00 - 100.0 330
8% cumulative preference B £1.00 — 100.0 281
Ordinary £1 60 - 1606 30.2
Preferred ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 88
The Four Seasons Hotel [nvestments England' Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 1000
Management Limited
The Four Seasons Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
The Oyster Spa Company Limited England' Ordmary £1.00 1000 — 100.0
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19. Related parties— dormant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% of class of  shares held by the nominal
sares heild  group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent {where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
The Portsmouth and Brighton United Breweries Limited England! Ordinary £0235 100.0 - 100.0
Thomas Wethered & Sons Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100 0
Threlfalls (Liverpool & Birkenhead) Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 1000
Threifalls {Saltord) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Trenirise Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 1000
Uncle Sam’s Limited Engiand’ Ordinary £1.00 - T00.0 1006
Virlat Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
WM. Datley, Linthied Englandl Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 49 8
Preference £1.00 — 100.0 49.8
Preferred ordinary £0.01 - 100.0 0.4
W, R, Wines Limited England’ Deferred £1.00 - 100.0 99.0
West Country Breweries Limited England’ Deferred £1.00 - 1000 990
Ordinary £0.01 — 100.0 1.0
Wentworth Guarantee Company Limited England’ N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread (Condor) Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £0.0001 873 17.7 100 0
Whitbread (G C ) Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 1000 100.0
Whithread Company Two Limited England’ Ordmary £1.00 — 100 0 100.0
Whitbread Developments Limited England” Ordmary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Devon Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 106.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Directorg 1 Limited England’ Ordinary £0.05 - 100.0 100.0
‘Whitbread Dhrectors 2 Limited England' Ordinary £1 00 950 10 100.0
Whitbread Dunstable Lirted Engiand’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Whithread Enterprise Centre Limited England® Ordinary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Finance PLC England® Ordinary £1 .00 50.0 500 100.0
Whitbread Fremling Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Golf and Country Club Limited Engtand’ 5% non-cumulative preference £1.00 - 100.0 45.0
A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 330
Whitbread Golf Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 100.0
Whitbread Guarantee Company Two Limited England” N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread Hotel {Bourmemouth) Limited England’ Ordinary £0 05 — 160.0 1000
Whitbread lotels (Management) Limited England’ Deferred £1 .00 — 100.0 100.0
USN0.01 - 100.0 -
Whithread International Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread International Trading Limited England’ Ordinary £0.25 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Investment Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Investment Company Securities Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Whitbread London Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 100.0
Whitbread Nominees Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 500 30.0 100.0
Whitbread Pension Trustee Directors Company Limited England' N/A N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread Pension Trustees England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100 0
Whitbread Pub and Bars Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub Partnership Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub Restaurants Business Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Quest Trustee [Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 1000
Whitbread Restaurants (Australia) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - -
Ordinary £0.56 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Whitbread Scetland Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1 00 100 0 — 10600
Whitbread Secretaries Linited England’ Ordinary £0.05 100.0 - 50.0
4% preference £0.05 100.0 - 500
Whitbread Share Ownership Trustees Limited England’ N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread Spa Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1006 —
Whitbread Sunderland {1995) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Sunderland 3 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 57.0
5.6% non-cumulative preference £1.00 — 100.0 43.0
Whitbread Sundetland Limited England' Ordmnary £35.00 - 1000 50.0
Preference £5.00 - 100.0 50.0
Whithread Trafalgar Properties Limited England’ A ordmary £1.00 100.0 — 50.0
B ordinary £1 00 100.0 = 30.0
Whitbread UK Limited England’ Ordmnary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Wales Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Wessex Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
White Cross Fulms Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
Wiggin Tree Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.9 - 100.0
Willhouse Limited England’ Deferred £1.00 ~ 100.0 30.0
Q ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 250
W ordmary £1.00 - 100.0 250
Wiltiam Overy Crane Hire Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 100.0
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19 Related parties (continued)

The registered oftfice of the above companies is as follows:

I Whitbread Court, Houghion Hall Business Park, Porz Avenue, Dunstable, Beds. L.U3 5XE.

2 4th Floor, Saltire Court, 20 Castle Terrace, Edinburgh, EH1 2EN.

3 3rd Floor. Kilmore House. Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, Ireland.

4 2nd Floor, St Mary’s Court, 20 Hill Street, Douglas. IM1 LEU. Isle of Man.

5 4th Floor. St Paul's Gate. 22-24 New Street. St Helier. JE1 4TR, Jersey.

6 Ground Floar, Premier Inn Dubai Investment Park, P.G. Box 35118, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
7 3rd Floor. Tornado Towers, PO Box 34040, Doha, Qatar.

8 Messeturm (i2th Floor), Friedrich-Ebert-Anlage 49, 60308 Frankfurt am Main, Germany.

9 Room 742, 968 West Beijing Road. Jing an District, Shanghai. China.

10 Gandaria 8 Oftice Tower. [9th Floor Unit Al, Jalan Sultan [skandarmuda. Kebayoran Lama. 12240, Indonesia.
11 TMF Services B.V.. Nassima Tower. Office 1401. Sheikh Zayed Road, PO Box 213975, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
12 38 Beach Road. 29-11 South Beach Tower, Singapore 189767, Singapore.

13 Almas 6C, Almas Tower, Jumeirah Lake Towers, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.

14 4th Floor, 115 George Street, Edinburgh, EH2 4IN, Scotland.

15 The Royal Scot Hotel, 111 Glasgow Road. Edinburgh. CH12 8NF, Scotland.

16 11 New St. Guernsey GY 1 3EG, Guernsey.

17 Swallow Royal Scot Hotel. Glasgow Road, Edinburgh. EN12 8NF, Scotland.

18 100 Moorgate, London. England, EC2M 6AB.

19 Hegelgasse 13, 1010 Wien. Austria.

20 Parent undertaking
The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking is Whithread PL.C. registered in England and Wales.

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group accounts are drawn up and of which the Company is

a member is Whitbread PLC. registered in England and Wales. Copies of their accounts can be obtained from Whitbread Court,
Houghton Hall Business Park, Porz Avenue, Dunstable. Bedfordshire, LUJ5 5XE.

21 Events after the balance sheet date
Post balance sheet events likely to impact the company are set out within Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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